

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2022

## **Optimization of Financial Performance in E-commerce**

Ishmael Fleming Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Finance and Financial Management Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

# Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Ishmael Fleming

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Cheryl Lentz, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Kevin Davies, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Janet Booker, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2022

Abstract

Optimization of Financial Performance in E-commerce

by

Ishmael Fleming

MS, University of Phoenix, 2009

BS, University of Maryland University, 2008

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

October 2022

#### Abstract

Financial performance is a challenge for business managers in the e-commerce industry that lack the knowledge to meet their operational objectives consistently. Business managers are concerned with poor financial performance due to the adverse impact on business sustainability. Grounded in total quality management theory, the purpose of this quantitative correlational study was to examine the relationship between working capital management (WCM), operating expense ratio (OER), and e-commerce financial performance. Archival data were collected from 107 small- to medium-sized publicly traded e-commerce businesses headquartered in the United States from 2019 to 2021. The results of the multiple linear regression were significant F(2, 104) = 4.684, p < 0.001,  $R^2$ = 1.000. In the final model, WCM and OER were statistically significant with WCM ( $\beta$  = -0.34, t = -9332835.434, p < .001) accounting for a lesser contribution to the model than OER ( $\beta = -1.016$ , t = -275081494.2, p < .001). The key recommendation is for business managers to manage the cost of selling their produced product or service holistically together and not separately. The implications for positive social change include potentially helping business managers to increase profitability through WCM and OER optimization allowing organizations to invest in targeted vendors, communities, and valuable publicly traded company stock.

Optimization of Financial Performance in E-commerce

by

Ishmael Fleming

MS, University of Phoenix, 2009

BS, University of Maryland University, 2008

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

October 2022

#### Dedication

This study is dedicated to my dad and mom. Dad, losing you when I was at age 37 was tough, never got a chance to say thanks for the support, guidance, belief, and sacrifices. Mom, losing you when I was at age 5 was even more challenging, not knowing what your dreams were for me, not knowing if I agree or disagree with your perspectives on life, and not knowing what your voice sounds like to include in my thoughts. But nevertheless, we are here now, I am at age 39 and I just wanted to say "out loud" that I am doing it, I am being the change that I would like to see in this world. Hope to see you both in the next lifetime.

#### Acknowledgments

I would like to take this time to thank four people that played a pivotal role in the timely completion of this DBA program. First and second, I would like to show gratitude to my ex-wives Chastity and Victoria (in alphabetical order) for watching the kids on many nights, during my designated weekends, over the past 3 years; due to me having all at the same time a splitting headache, assignment deadlines, and fatigue. You both made this doctoral journey a lot less painful than it could have been. Next, I would like to thank my student success adviser Sarah Hendrickson, anytime I had a question, she had an answer. Success was always inevitable with access to Sarah's list of contacts at my disposal. Fourth and most importantly I would like to thank my chairman, my mentor, and my gatekeeper of knowledge Dr. Cheryl Lentz. I want to thank Dr. Lentz for an understanding of this doctoral study from introduction to conclusion. With Dr. Lentz "the student becoming the teacher" was always at the forefront. I thank you all again sincerely, I am forever grateful to all four of you.

List of Tablesiv
List of Figures
Section 1: Foundation of the Study
Background of the Problem1
Problem Statement
Purpose Statement4
Nature of the Study4
Research Question
Hypotheses6
Theoretical Framework
Operational Definitions
Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations8
Assumptions
Limitations
Delimitations
Significance of the Study10
A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature
Strategy for Searching the Literature
Application to the Applied Business Problem13
Foundation of the TQM Theory14
Transition

### Table of Contents

Section 2: The Project	53
Purpose Statement	53
Role of the Researcher	54
Participants	55
Research Method and Design	56
Research Method	56
Research Design	57
Population and Sampling	57
Ethical Research	60
Data Collection Instruments	60
Data Collection Technique	63
Data Analysis	64
Study Validity	65
Transition and Summary	68
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	69
Introduction	69
Presentation of the Findings	69
Applications to Professional Practice	81
Implications for Social Change	83
Recommendations for Action	84
Recommendations for Further Research	86
Reflections	87

	Conclusion	.88
F	References	.90

## List of Tables

Table 1. Terms Used in Literature Review Search	
Table 2. Deming's 1982 14 Principals of Quality Management	15
Table 3. Variables and their Scale of Measurement	
Table 4. 2021 Descriptive Statistics for Quantitative Study Variables	77
Table 5. 2020 Descriptive Statistics for Quantitative Study Variables	77
Table 6. 2019 Descriptive Statistics for Quantitative Study Variables	77
Table 7. 2021 Model Summary	
Table 8. 2020 Model Summary	
Table 9. 2019 Model Summary	
Table 10. Regression Analysis Summary	80

# List of Figures

Figure 1. Power as a function of sample size	59
Figure 2. 2021 Scatter plot of WCM and EFP	71
Figure 3. 2020 Scatter plot of WCM and EFP	71
Figure 4. 2019 Scatter plot of WCM and EFP	72
Figure 5. 2021 Scatter plot of OER and EFP	73
Figure 6. 2020 Scatter plot of OER and EFP	73
Figure 7. 2019 Scatter plot of OER and EFP	74
Figure 8. 2021 Scatter plot of Revenue and EFP	75
Figure 9. 2020 Scatter plot of Revenue and EFP	75
Figure 10. 2019 Scatter plot of Revenue and EFP	76

#### Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Successful small businesses are a significant part of the U.S. economy by comprising 66% of private-sector employment in the country, employing over 1.2 million people, and generating over \$165 billion in revenue annually (Norze et al., 2019). Of the new small businesses created every year, only half survive their first 5 years of operation because of the lack of quality management (Bhandari et al., 2019). Quality management comes from the decision-making personnel of a company who are proactive, innovative, creative, and forward-thinking for the betterment of the business (Krikunov et al., 2020). The general business problem is that many unqualified managers do not manage their business's working capital and operating expenses effectively. The purpose of this quantitative correlational study was to examine the relationship, if any, between working capital management, operating expense ratio, and e-commerce financial performance.

#### **Background of the Problem**

The focus of the proposed study is quality business management. Traditional financial institutions consider E-commerce companies high-risk (Li, 2017). The perceived risks emerge from the fact that e-commerce companies usually require, initially, large amounts of capital to enter the respective markets (Li, 2017). In addition, the ability of competition to mimic services or products increases the lack of stability of many new e-commerce companies, thus increasing risk (Jie, 2016). As a result, e-commerce company startups traditionally utilize single source or private funding (Svatosova et al., 2018). The e-commerce market relies, at start-up, on immediately securing customer bases through continual marketing and product / service enhancement,

which are essential to e-industry operations but very costly (Li, 2017). While focusing on product development and marketing, many e-businesses operate with negative cash flow, hoping to sustain until profits can be made. However, because of risk factors after initial investment allocation, securing additional funding can become problematic (Yuejun, 2016; Yumin, 2020).

If managed effectively, the initial investments secured for a startup can often sustain an e-commerce business until profits are consistent. The business problem is that many unqualified e-commerce managers are in control of their business's working capital and operating expenses (Yuejun, 2016). This business problem deserves additional research because of the increased emergence of e-commerce businesses (Meiying, 2021). Numerous researchers, such as Kaushik and Chauhan (2019), examined the financial management of e-commerce companies.

Kaushik and Chauhan (2019) performed a study on 211 non-banking, financial, and information technology (IT) institutions solely focused on the relationship between working capital management and financial performance. The results indicated a significant positive association between working capital management and financial performance (Kaushik & Chauhan, 2019). In addition, studies such as Karno et al. (2018), focused on operation expense ratios. Karno et al. performed a study on four urban outer city schools in five different districts by determining if there is a relationship between operational cost and annual performance. The results of this study showed that an increase in the quality of education improved school participation, community participation, quality of teachers, and educational facilities (Karno et al., 2018). The need to solve this applied business problem comes from organizations wanting to improve their annual financial performance. Analyzing, adjusting, and managing business operations holistically, instead of only focusing on independently improving each part of the business's operation is the concept of Deming's (1982) total quality management (TQM) philosophy (Duncan & Luchs, 2017, as cited in Kennedy, 2018).

This study is essential because of the need to focus on effective, holistic ecommerce management which contributes to an organization's annual financial performance (Karno et al., 2018; Kaushik & Chauhan, 2019). This study will include examination of whether a correlation exists between working capital management and operating expense ratios. The practice of optimization, historically, produces efficient, effective, and high annual performance results by analyzing operation systems (Precup et al., 2021).

#### **Problem Statement**

Annual e-commerce industry sales in the United States continue to grow at an increasing rate of (a) \$455 billion in 2017, (b) \$535 billion in 2019, (c) projected to reach \$600 billion by the end of 2020, and (d) will likely surpass \$1 trillion in 2027 (Barto & Guzman, 2018; Moagar-Poladian et al., 2017; Yu & Kim, 2019). While Wang et al. (2020a) reported that some managers continue to fail to capitalize on the available online revenue from the e-commerce industry's spectacular growth. The general business problem is that many e-commerce operation managers do not manage working capital and operating expenses at optimum levels. Consequently, ineffective use of financial resources can constrain e-commerce financial performance and the strategic decision-

making abilities of management. The specific business problem is that some e-commerce managers do not understand, if any, the relationship between working capital management, operating expense ratio, and e-commerce financial performance.

#### **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this quantitative correlational study was to examine the relationship, if any, between working capital management, operating expense ratio, and e-commerce financial performance of e-commerce companies. The independent variables are working capital management and operating expense ratio. The dependent variable is e-commerce financial performance. The targeted population is e-commerce businesses that operate in the United States. The implications for positive social change include the possibility for business managers to be better equipped to ensure business sustainability, which can increase the ability to create additional economic opportunities in their local community. Equipping business managers with the tools to foster sustainability can increase local revenue sources to cycle into the local workforce, residents, vendors, and community.

#### Nature of the Study

There are three common research methods used to conduct studies. The qualitative research method is for exploratory research, interviews, and collecting intellectual data (Hu & Chang, 2017). The qualitative approach did not align with this study because the research results need to be numerically data-driven (Fang-Yi et al., 2020). The mixed methods research included both quantitative and qualitative research (Hu & Chang, 2017). The mixed methods research is not appropriate for this doctoral

study. Instead of interviewing several managers from e-commerce businesses, examination of profit-loss statements from e-commerce companies will be conducted to address the research inquiries.

The quantitative research method requires variables, tables, figures, and theories (Hu & Chang, 2017). Another positive factor for the quantitative research method was that this type of analysis methodology requires numerical data to be quantified to answer the research question and meet other objectives (Fang-Yi et al., 2020). The quantitative methodology is the most logical research method to address the research questions proposed.

The correlational design best suits the purpose of this doctoral study by examining the relationship between variables (Fang-Yi et al., 2020). The correlational design was used for the proposed study to assess the strength of the relationship between two or more variables (Hu & Chang, 2017). For this study, the correlational design is the most appropriate because the purpose of the study is to determine if any relationships exist between the independent and dependent variables (Fang-Yi et al., 2020). Furthermore, there are no intentions of controlling any of the variables, therefore ultimately making the use of the experimental design and quasi-experimental design inappropriate for this doctoral study.

#### **Research Question**

This research study examined, the relationship between the operating expense ratio found on the profit-loss statements and the management of working capital located on the balance sheets of all the selected sample e-commerce businesses. The one central research question for this quantitative correlational study is: What is the relationship, if any, between the working capital management, operating expense ratio, and e-commerce financial performance?

#### Hypotheses

The proposed research study tests the following hypotheses:

H0: There is no statistically significant predictive relationship between working capital management, operating expense ratio, and e-commerce financial performance.

H1: There is a statistically significant predictive relationship between the working capital management, operating expense ratio, and e-commerce financial performance.

#### **Theoretical Framework**

A theoretical framework provides the context for conducting research and interpreting findings (Archer et al., 2017). Many different theoretical frameworks exist to evaluate levels of perceived value in a business. Deming's (1982) philosophy of continual improvement conceptualizes a business as a whole system instead of compartmentalized (Breja, et al., 2010, as cited in Breja et al., 2016). Deming was an American management consultant and professor in mathematical physics, mostly known for statistical process controls, operational quality, and management techniques (Duncan & Luchs, 2017, as cited in Kennedy, 2018). The TQM system has an organizational influence by teaching management to adopt principles that can increase quality, reduce costs, reduce employee attrition, and increase customer loyalty (Kennedy, 2018). Deming's ideas articulate the belief that (a) when organizations focus on prices, the costs eventually often rise and quality often over time falls, and (b) when organizations focus on quality, the quality eventually usually rises and often cost over time falls (Breja et al., 2010, as cited in Breja et al., 2016).

Deming's (1982) TQM philosophy (Duncan & Luchs, 2017, as cited in Kennedy, 2018) was used as the theoretical framework for this study. The TQM theory aligns with the variables of the proposed study. Working capital and operating expense ratio can be examined through the lens of TQM because of the need for these two variables to be continuously adjusted to function at optimum levels in the evolving e-commerce industry (Breja et al., 2010, as cited in Breja et al., 2016).

#### **Operational Definitions**

*Cash conversion cycle (CCC):* This term represents the cash inflow and cash outflow of four primary business activities, which are (a) the purchase of inventory, (b) sale of products or services, (c) collection of revenue, and (d) payment of short-term liabilities (Kolias et al., 2020).

*Ecommerce financial performance (EFP):* This term signifies the measurement of a business's periodic output of profitability, efficiency, and effectiveness; EFP measures how well an online business can create a profit for its investors (Acikgoz & Kilic, 2021).

*Operating expense ratio (OER):* This term implies comparing and measuring different costs needed to run a business, OER also shows how much revenue exist for a profit or a loss (Chong et al., 2017).

*Working capital management (WCM):* This term infers managing short-term assets and short-term liabilities to maximize annual revenue through efficiency and effectiveness (Kolias et al., 2020).

#### Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Assumptions, limitations, and delimitations play a vital role in this doctoral study process by providing the reader with a certain level of understanding, logic, and expectation. Dean (2014) stated assumptions are self-evident truths, limitations are potential study weaknesses, and delimitations are limitations due to the research design. Moreover, Gallo and Clauter (2014) reported that: (a) an assumption is a particular event that happened without proof, (b) a limitation refers to a circumstance beyond the control of the researcher, and (c) a delimitation is a limitation imposed on the study that limits the generalizability of the results. In the following section, the topics of discussion are assumption, limitation, and delimitation.

#### Assumptions

The first assumption of the proposed study is that the information in the financial documents obtained for the 100 companies in the sample population is accurate. The second assumption is that all the organizations in the sample population prioritize financial profitability over philanthropy and over maximizing economic impact. Some companies do not focus on making a profit through operations; some businesses can better increase their stock value through philanthropy and brand awareness (Kenchington, 2019). Philanthropy and brand awareness make investors more money through capital gains, dividends, and a decreased tax rate (Kenchington, 2019). Some companies, such as

medical organizations, focus on providing cures for viruses and illnesses instead of providing products to treat those same viruses and other diseases, which is more profitable (Richterman et al., 2018). Klibanoff et al. (2018) stated that assumptions play an essential role in management decision-making when under uncertainty. Management assumptions can also be a source of variation in human behavior (Ravenelle, 2019).

#### Limitations

This study contains two scope-related limitations. The first limitation is in the omission of other profitability drivers while analyzing the relationship between working capital management, operating expense ratio, and e-commerce financial performance. The second limitation is only businesses with three consecutive years of operating profit will be included in the sample population. Companies that may have a positive relationship between WCM, OER, and EFP will be excluded from the sample population because the profits are not during three consecutive years of operations. Brown (2020) stated the quality of relevant information affects limitations; moreover, researchers should review their research studies for limitations from different perspectives (Rind, 2016).

#### Delimitations

This study contains two location-related delimitations. The first delimitation is that this study only includes e-commerce companies headquartered in the United States. The second delimitation includes only an examination of businesses that prioritize online e-commerce over traditional brick-and-mortar operations. The focus of this study is on ecommerce, so companies without an online presence did not participate in the study.

#### Significance of the Study

The importance of this study is to investigate the possible relationship between working capital management, operating expense ratio, and e-commerce financial performance. Performance measures the e-commerce business's profit percentage concerning surplus revenue (Acikgoz & Kilic, 2021). The significance of this study is to determine collectively, (a) if e-commerce businesses perform well when effectively utilizing a certain percentage of their working capital and (b) if e-commerce businesses perform well when efficiently utilizing a certain percentage of their operating expenses (Carswell, 2017; Hussain et al., 2020).

Damjibhai (2016) reported that the ideal *conservative* working capital ratio is 2:1 and the *current* liabilities listed on the balance sheet should total no more than 50% of the *current* assets listed on the balance sheet per calendar quarter. *Current* means assets available or liabilities due within one year (Damjibhai, 2016). Rafi et al. (2020) reported that the ideal operating expense ratio is between 60%-80%. This range of operating expense ratio means that the net operating profit should be between 20%-40% of gross revenue sales per calendar quarter; a *conservative* operation would utilize no more than 60% of operating expenses, and an *aggressive* operation would utilize at least 80% of operating expenses (Rafi et al., 2020).

#### **Contribution to Business Practice and Implications for Social Change**

The contribution to business practice findings, conclusions, and recommendations from this study could fill gaps in the understanding, effectiveness, and efficiency of ecommerce financial management practices (Svatosova, 2019). Examining potential correlations between effective working capital management, efficient operating expense ratios, and e-commerce financial performance could be used to enhance the sustainability of future e-commerce businesses (Karno et al., 2018; Kaushik & Chauhan, 2019).

The potential social change implications are for this study to positively affect social change and improve the relations between individuals and organizations in local communities. Oprescu (2019) reported that the emergence of e-commerce and the development of e-commerce platforms removed the need for in-person interactions between buyers and sellers. This development may allow businesses in rural or urban communities to access more potential customers for increased revenue, company growth, and future success (Tzavlopoulos et al., 2019). Consequently, for e-commerce businesses, this study might improve the effectiveness and efficiency of operations. The study findings might also improve the relationship between other stakeholders such as individuals, vendors, and local communities of various e-commerce businesses.

#### A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

The following literature review includes a critical analysis and synthesis of existing literature related to the TQM theoretical framework and three research study variables. The objective of this literature review is to examine prior peer-reviewed publications on the research topic; what is the relationship between working capital management (WCM), operating expense ratio (OER), and e-commerce financial performance (EFP) in small to medium-sized businesses. The review of the literature included the following major topics: (a) application to the applied business problem, (b) theoretical framework analyzation, (c) independent/dependent/measurement of variables, and the (d) research topic's relation to the theory. This research topic aids in the solution of the general business problem, which is, many operation managers do not manage their working capital and operating expenses at optimum levels (Karno et al., 2018; Kaushik & Chauhan, 2019). Furthermore, this literature review includes the most current literature, historical literature, and relevant seminal literature on the covered topics. This literature review also provides journal articles and reports from small, medium, public, and governmental organizations.

#### **Strategy for Searching the Literature**

The professional and academic literature covered throughout this literature review came from Walden University's Library databases: (a) ABI / INFORM Collection, (b) EBSCOhost, (c) Emerald Management Journals, (d) ProQuest Central, and (e) SAGE Premier. The Google Scholar search engine identified many relevant sources during this literature review process. Of the 80 references in this study, 75 (93%) sources are peerreviewed and published within 5 years of my anticipated graduation date. The remaining five (7%) non-peer-reviewed and older sources support the research study's prior historical framework. The search techniques include reviewing studies and articles found on the reference list of related articles during database searches. The initial investigation involved using keywords such as *financial performance, working capital management, operating expense ratio, and TQM theory*. Subsequent searches included additional keywords supplied by the initially reviewed sources. A list of initial and subsequent terms used while searching through the literature is below in Table 1.

#### Table 1

Initial terms	Subsequent terms
Financial Performance	eCommerce Financial Performance, E-
	retailing Financial Performance, Electronic
	Commerce Financial Performance
Working Capital Management	Working Capital
Operating Expense Ratio	Operational Cost, Operating Cost
Total Quality Management	Deming's Continuous Improvement
Theory	Theory, Deming's (1982) Efficiency
	Evolution Theory

Terms Used in Literature Review Search

#### **Application to the Applied Business Problem**

The purpose of this quantitative correlational study is to examine the relationship, if any, between working capital management, operating expense ratio, and e-commerce financial performance (Hu & Chang, 2017). The independent variables are working capital management and operating expense ratio. The dependent variable is e-commerce financial profit. The targeted population is e-commerce businesses that operate online for the benefit of customers in the United States (Yu & Kim, 2019). In this doctoral study, the goal is to test the following hypotheses:

H0: There is no statistically significant predictive relationship between the working capital management, operating expense ratio, and e-commerce financial performance.

H1: There is a statistically significant predictive relationship between the working capital management, operating expense ratio, and e-commerce financial performance.

#### Foundation of the TQM Theory

The TQM theory is the theoretical framework utilized for this study. The TQM theory is a set of management practices and techniques used to help organizations increase their productivity and quality (Agrawal, 2019). This comprehensive management approach works horizontally across every department of a business. Direct alignment exists within the business from entry-level employees and senior-level employees to the selection of vendors and the customer based (Watson, 2017b). Deming's (1982) organizational-wide continual improvement approach aimed to reducing waste, staff attrition, litigation, and rework while increasing client/customer retention (Agrawal, 2019). Variation is the key to the TQM concept.

All systems have variations and management's recognition of the difference between common variations and special variations are imperative (Castellano et al., 2016). Common variations are difficult to detect are due to changes in a system, design, or process but special variations are easy to identify because they are changes in personnel, equipment, or procedure (Castellano et al., 2016). There are numerous quality control systems used in business today, but TQM is the only method that provides a framework for implementing effective and efficient practices to increase competitiveness and profitability company-wide (Watson, 2017b).

#### **Evolution of the TQM Theory**

The historic evolution of the TQM theory is industry-altering and spans almost 100 years. In 1927, Shewhart's idea of common variations and special variations directly led to the creation of Deming's (1982) theory of management (Cunningham, 1994, as cited in Lovitt, 1997). During the 1930s, Deming improved the management theory to include systematically increasing quality control (Deming, 1985, as cited in Petersen, 1999). In 1940, Deming tested this quality control technique company-wide (Deming, 1985, as cited in Petersen, 1999). Later, in 1947, Deming applied these quality management methods to Japanese businesses and helped them reach quality and productivity levels unseen at that time (Deming, 1985, as cited in Petersen, 1999). Finally, in 1982, Deming introduced the management theory to U.S. businesses, renamed the theory TQM, and refined the TQM theory concept to include the 14 principles listed in Table 2 below (Agrawal, 2019).

#### Table 2

P1 Create constancy of purpose for	<b>P8</b> Drive out fear
improvement of product & service	
<b>P2</b> Adopt the new philosophy	<b>P9</b> Break down barrier between staff areas
P3 Cease dependence on mass inspections	P10 Eliminate slogans, exhortations, and targets
	for the work force
<b>P4</b> End the practice of awarding business on	P11 Eliminate numerical quotas
the basis of price tags alone	<b>P12</b> Remove barriers that rob people of pride of
<b>P5</b> Improve constantly & forever the system	workmanship
of production & service	P13 Encourage education & self-improvement
<b>P6</b> Institute training	for everyone
<b>P7</b> Adopt and institute leadership	P14 Take action to accomplish the transformation

Deming's 1982 14 Principals of Ouality Management

Note. Table adapted from data presented in Agrawal, N. M. (2019). Modeling Deming's quality principles to improve performance using interpretive structural modeling and MICMAC analysis. *International Journal of Quality & Reliability Management*.

Deming (1982) created the 14 principles of quality management as a cure for his

Seven Deadly Diseases of management (Kilian, 1992, as cited in Moen & Norman,

2016). Moen and Norman (2016) stated that Deming's Seven Deadly Diseases of

management, are the most serious obstacles and barriers that organizations face during

operation, these seven deadly diseases are; (a) lack of constancy of purpose, to completely plan out products and services, (b) emphasis on short-term profits, instead of long-term thinking, (c) evaluation of performance, merit rating and annual review creates competition and reduces collaboration and teamwork in the workplace, (d) mobility of management, management freely hopping from job to job with no continuity, (e) management paying too much attention to visible figures and very little attention to figures unknown or unknowable, (f) excessive medical costs, because of safety accidents, (g) excessive liability costs, due to lawyers, insurance, and safety precautions. Unfortunately, in 2021, the TQM theory does not have wide acceptance because of numerous counter philosophies and a lack of buy-in from top executives (Agrawal, 2019).

Agrawal (2019) also reported that Deming's (1982) 14 principles remain in use by some managers to improve the overall performance of their organizations. Areas for further research that would prove beneficial is an analysis of long-term historical data on organizations that truly believe in Deming's TQM (Chassin et al., 2010, as cited in Upadhyay et al., 2019). This research should center around financial performance, productivity, and minimizing cost over a certain time period. The potential impact of this research over the next 3-5 years is an increase in followers and believers of Deming's 1982 TQM, and an overall improvement of man and machine in the workforce.

#### **Alternative Management Theories**

Analysis and critics of Deming's (1982) Theory of TQM exist throughout history. Critics challenged TQM, identified potential barriers, and developed alternative philosophies. The growth in evolving demand for a profitable business increased the organizational need for innovation and quality decision-making skills from management for the benefit of the company's financial performance (Octavia et al., 2020). Managers use Deming's TQM theory to improve the financial performance of their business (Agrawal, 2019). But numerous philosophies that counter the TQM theory create challenges, barriers, and limitations for organizations that hinder growth in financial performance. Last, future research of the differences between the TQM theory and countering philosophies would prove beneficial and could positively impact organizations domestically and internationally.

Deming's (1982) TQM theory focuses on the continuous improvement of an organization but numerous counter philosophies, favored by some managers emerged over time. New philosophies avoid holistic business development, to instead focus on only improving respective individual aspects of the business. The most noteworthy counter philosophies are (a) Abilene paradox, (b) double talk, (c) pseudo work, and (d) strata levels of work (Bassole et al., 2020; Chen & Chang, 2018; Lopez & Ivanov, 2018; Wang & Chen, 2018). Acceptance of these counter philosophies could negatively impact both the production and service industries.

#### **The Abilene Paradox**

The Abilene paradox is a management paradox first identified by a management consultant and professor in 1974 named Harvey (Venzor & Ivanov, 2017). The management paradox exists when a person, group, or organization takes an action in contradiction to what they want to do and therefore defeats the intended purpose (Yuksel, 2017).

Venzor and Ivanov (2017) reported that according to Harvey's (1974) Abilene paradox philosophy, people caught in the web of the Abilene paradox avoid speaking up because of the fear of separation from the group, fear of being fired, fear of being demoted, or fear of losing face. The inability to manage agreement is the essential symptom that defines organizations caught in the web of the Abilene paradox, not the inability to manage conflict (Yuksel, 2017). The inability to manage agreement is in complete contrast to the TQM theory, which promotes communication and direction (Agrawal, 2019).

Chen and Chang (2018) conducted a study about the effects, causes, and influences of the Abilene paradox, if any, on their elementary school; and this study involved twelve faculty members. In an organizational setting, conflict is inevitable; Yuksel (2017) defined conflict as a catalyst for an innovative process through an environment in which numerous views and ideas contend with each other. Abilene paradox casts light on the embeddedness of conflict and why managers in an organization are acting in contradiction to their very own original judgement; any other approach to conflict, other than a direct contradiction of original judgement, would be more feasible because conflict is a necessary process that an organization should manage rather than avoid (Yuksel, 2017). Results of this Abilene paradox study showed a negative effect on the school's operation, through poor communication, inadequate interaction, isolation, exclusion, and rising gossip (Chen & Chang, 2018). Subsequently, the use of the TQM theory through communication, interaction, and teamwork allows conflict to be structured in a productive goal-oriented way (Agrawal, 2019).

#### **Double Talk**

Double talk is a philosophy created by Orwell (1984) and competing employees; Orwell's double talk is a lie with a malicious intention to hide the truth from others (Ivanov, 2017, as cited in Minas & Ivanov, 2017). For example, employee A asks employee B if they can sign up for advanced training that the organization offered. Employee B says that the training is probably full, but the truth is that the training is not full, and the organization prefers all employees take the advanced training in preparation for faster development for promotional advancement. Eventually when the truth emerges and the staff loses trust in the management and organization; then this loss of trust leads to a philosophy called pseudo work (Brown & Spang, 2008; Minas & Ivanov, 2017).

Brown and Spang (2008) conducted a double talk study in a Detroit, Michigan elementary school science class for 1 year. The study involved one teacher and 27 students (Brown & Spang, 2008). Lopez and Ivanov (2018) negatively defined double talk as talking with the intention to confuse, mislead, or manipulate an audience. Brown and Spang, contrastingly, positively used double talk during this study. Throughout the 1year study, double talk transferred information through teaching and learning (Brown & Spang, 2008). Upon completion, Brown and Spang viewed their study as a success; because they felt that in life every speech interaction, whether good or bad, between two or more people always involve two things, the expressed and interpretive messages communicated to the listener. This study is another philosophy in complete contrast to the TQM theory that encourages the use of concise objectives and clear motives to advance the organization (Agrawal, 2019). The connection of Orwell's (1984) double talk philosophy to this study is to show that many malicious competing employees waste valuable productive time in an organization, instead of using the TQM theory to continuously advance itself through partnership and teamwork.

#### **Pseudo Work**

Pseudo work philosophy comes from Greek origin, pseudo work is a negative experience that is defined as pretend work that gives the appearance of work, but is not productive (Wang & Chen, 2018). Minas and Ivanov (2017) stated that a person that does pseudo work eventually becomes less excited to come to work and then becomes less motivated to improve or create positive change in the organization once promoted to a higher position. In relation to the proposed study, managers' recognition of pseudo work enables implementation of subsequent intervention. Recognition and intervention foster improved production and efficiency.

A pseudo work study conducted at a U.S. company of about 150 employees, focused on the first year of a newly hired pseudo-transformational leader (Hughes & Harris, 2017). Hughes and Harris (2017) in this study, defined a pseudo-transformational leader as someone that is exploitive, creates unnecessary work, makes unnecessary organizational changes, power hungry, consumed by their self-interest, and acts with distorted moral values. Wang and Chen (2018) stated that research shows that the use of pseudo manipulation to conceal our true intentions over time, rarely produces anything other than negative results. The results of this study showed that the pseudotransformational leader within 1 year of arriving at the new organization made numerous changes for the sake of simplicity to make changes, there was no changes that improved the organizational efficiency or effectiveness in a substantial manner (Hughes & Harris, 2017). This pseudo philosophy is also a complete contrast to TQM, because pseudo work lacks positive change of the organization through management (Agrawal, 2019).

#### Strata Levels of Work

Jaques's (1989) philosophy of strata levels of work, also known as organizational *theory*, asserts that the higher a person's position in a hierarchy is, the longer that person could work productively to complete task without supervision (Minas & Ivanov, 2017). Furthermore, assumptions included that the individual possessed a corresponding level of cognitive complexity, acquired skills, and knowledge gained through experience, and the individual valued the assigned work (Ivanov, 2011). Jaques's strata levels of work philosophy create a visual representation of the different levels of work, but unfortunately one problem with this philosophy is that if the organization grows to too many levels, depending on the industry, various employee time spans would overlap in their hierarchy position; thus creating a situation where a manager would be in a position either too long or too short (Minas & Ivanov, 2017). Depending on the person in charge of advancement, ultimately an individual could lose interest in improving the organization and instead focus more on moving up the hierarchy ladder to the next position (Minas & Ivanov, 2017). The organizational theory represents potential hindrances to small business sustainability. Managers' ability to recognize and avoid ineffective approaches such as the organizational theory can help improve personnel decisions and task assignments,

thus avoiding loss of interest. Loss of interest is in contrast with the TQM theory which focuses on growth, development, and the integration of new innovative practices.

A strata level of work study, conducted with 5,235 participants over 47 organizations, this study was to identify whether certain issues occurred at all the different strata levels of an organization (Chan et al., 2019). Ivanov (2011) stated that employees and upper management that focus more on achieving the next strata level, and less focus on solving problems to improve the effectiveness and efficiency of the organization's workplace environment, eventually fail to their competitors that do figure out ways to improve effectiveness and efficiency of the workplace environment for the overall betterment of the organization.

The results of this study showed that bullying of 1 in 3 participants at every strata level in each organization; (a) at the high end of the strata level, males and females demonstrated signs of distress, and a majority of females reported complaints of bullying, and (b) at the low end of the strata level, signs of distress appeared in males and females, but participants did not complain of bullying even after admitting to being bullied on more than one occasion (Chan et al., 2019). Employees lose motivation when the same issue occurs at every strata level in an organization, regardless of the timespan spent at the previous position (Bassole et al., 2020). Proper management strategy identification, as proposed in the current study, can alleviate harassment in the workplace and improve overall company productivity, which fosters sustainability. This philosophy is in contrast with the TQM theory, which embodies the continual evolution of the organization to

improve the effectiveness and efficiency of every program, product, and personnel (Agrawal, 2019).

#### **Additional Contrasting and Supporting Theories**

Managers, historically, use several different theories and philosophical beliefs to grow organizations (Agrawal, 2019). Because of funding requirements needed to operate certain business tactics, the following are additional minor used contrasting theories of TQM: (a) short-term thinking, (b) management by results, (c) organizational deadly diseases, (d) performance-based pay / incentive pay, and (e) merit system (Minas & Ivanov, 2017; Venzor & Ivanov, 2017).

Short-term thinking is a big issue with management in some organizations; shortterm thinking is an emphasis on immediate results and short-term profit, Deming once said that short-term solutions have long-term effects on an organization (Venzor & Ivanov, 2017). When management focuses on immediate results, the focus is on making the next quarter look good in terms of sales and customer services, which means that employees will do whatever is necessary to reach the short-term goals set, even if some employees must bend the rules to achieve it (Bassole et al., 2020). Management by results is also a big failure of many businesses, because managers choose to take up so much time fixing the immediate problems, instead of figuring out what the root of the problem is (Venzor & Ivanov, 2017). The connection to this study is that the short-term thinking and management by results philosophies stagnate the growth of the business and is in contrast with TQM theory, which endorses long-term thinking and proactively solving problems before they occur (Agrawal, 2019).

Minas and Ivanov (2017) reported that Deming (1982) had a philosophy on two types of organizational deadly diseases called constancy of purpose and performance evaluations. Constancy of purpose is when an organization stays stagnant for years without any innovation and no improvements to its existing products and services (Minas & Ivanov, 2017). Performance evaluations are when an organization focuses so much attention on rating their employees' annual performance when employees only have 4% control of the organization and upper management has the other 96% control of the organization (Minas & Ivanov, 2017). If a performance issue arises, management can correct the issue, instead of rating each employee's ability to work through the issues (Octavia et al., 2020). The TQM theory shows businesses how to create an environment that ignites management innovation and forward-thinking (Agrawal, 2019). The connection to this study is the importance of organizations to continuously improve their operation through effectiveness and efficiency.

Deming (1982) stated that performance-based pay and incentive pay causes organizations to lose, because when companies focus too much effort on ranking and rating of employees from best to worst, the company lost sight of what the overall mission is and indirectly forces the company to compete with itself (Ivanov, 2015, as cited in Butt & Ivanov, 2017). Incentive pay is a common practice in organizations today when employees are rewarded for meeting certain quarterly/annual quotas and goals (Bassole et al., 2020). Deming 1982 reported that these types of merit systems should be
abolished, and instead a better organizational practice would be to work on a method for an overall systemic organizational improvement and not merit systems for individual improvement (Bassole et al., 2020). The connection to this study is that organizational deadly diseases, performance-based pay / incentive pay, and a merit system that focuses on internal employee competition, is in contrast with the TQM theory which advocates teamwork, collaboration, and information sharing for the betterment of the organization (Agrawal, 2019).

Due to non-general acceptance, the following are sporadically used supporting theories of TQM: (a) profound knowledge, (b) collaboration, and (c) role of humor. Watson (2017a) stated that Deming (1982) devoted much time to developing a system of profound knowledge that would use statistical knowledge about process performance as the basis for critical thinking and decision-making; the essential components of this system would be four dimensions called appreciation for a system, knowledge about variation, theory of knowledge, and psychology. Organizations should promote collaboration rather than competition to avoid employee conflicts over pay, benefits, and job survival (Bassole et al., 2020). Deming also believes that collaboration in the workplace goes well with a sense of humor; Deming stated that joy in the workplace is an essential aspect of quality management and was related to both employee satisfaction and superior business performance (Carder, 2019). These three philosophies completely support the TQM theory, because they focus on team building, growth of knowledge, and the overall advancement of the organization (Agrawal, 2019). The need for this study is to highlight the importance of a cohesive unit that maximizes organizational performance.

In conclusion, increasing uncertainties in the market create a competitive environment for businesses, therefore the TQM theory has an important role in the survival of these companies in such an unpredicted environment; moreover, Bolatan and Akgul (2019) stated that TQM is a philosophy that provides many benefits to aid in organizational longevity. Hedaoo and Sangode (2019) conducted a TQM study involving all employees of the organization in its continual improvement to achieve customer satisfaction; this study analyzed 21 manufacturing firms that implemented TQM principles. Organizations that utilize the TQM principles can continuously monitor environmental changes to learn and develop knowledge, Hsu (2019) then stated that they can better internally and externally use this knowledge to remold themselves to take advantage of opportunities to innovate and survive these environmental changes.

The results of this study revealed that all 21 manufacturing firms practiced TQM on a priority basis; data showed a consideration of 76% of customer feedback and implementation of 41% of customer feedback increased customer satisfaction and overall improvement of organizational performance (Hedaoo & Sangode, 2019). Honarpour et al. (2018) reported that by implementing TQM and managing the knowledge gained, organizations are then able to manage their operations efficiently and effectively to perform innovatively. The collection of contrasting and supporting philosophies justifies the need for the theoretical framework of TQM for this doctoral study, to determine if a correlational optimal level of effectiveness and efficiency exist between working capital management, operating expense ratio, and e-commerce financial performance (Agrawal, 2019).

Future research of the organizations that utilized Deming's (1982) TQM theory would prove beneficial and could positively impact organizations domestically and internationally (Hung et al., 2011, as cited in Honarpour et al., 2018). Moreover, numerous researchers stated that there was a need to distinguish between quality management principles, systems, and techniques; and, a potential to standardize the quality management vocabulary (Kumar et al., 2018). Quality management is an integral part of the overall organizational movement due to the effort to achieve world-class product quality, service quality, and market success (Kumar et al., 2018).

## Working Capital Management: The Independent Variable

As for almost any manager, working capital management (WCM) is a very challenging and demanding task, and to operate successfully requires policy, efficiency, and effectiveness (Mehta, 2017). In 2021, the vibrant business environment, the future, and survival of profitable firms are uncertain, due to businesses' inability to determine means of fulfilling short-term obligations; Kayani et al. (2019) noted that working capital is a short-term indicator that receives less than optimal attention from management, because management wrongfully considers working capital to be a routine matter with reversible related decisions. One issue related to the peculiarities of working capital for managers, is the insufficiently developed policies used to manage a business's working capital (Mann et al., 2018). Fulfilling short-term obligations is the sole purpose of this independent variable, consequently, this study will determine if there is an optimal level of usage among the selected profitable businesses.

To improve working capital management in an organization, is a proper debt management policy would ensure the removal of bad debts from accounts receivables so that management will not overextend working capital (Asfawu, 2019). Working capital management was associated with profitability, because organizations irrespective of their size normally has a large portion of their cash blocked in the form of working capital, which means that an aggressive working capital management policy may lead to higher profitability (Singh et al., 2017). Past research indicates that the effects of aggressive working capital management policies are limited and short-term, Boisjoly et al. (2020) also reported that aggressive working capital policies proved to stabilize over time. Prempeh and Peprah-Amankona (2020) noted that an efficient working capital management policy plays an essential part in the overall corporate strategy to maximize shareholder value, while an aggressive working capital management policy can maximize organization performance.

Working capital management is a critical element of a businesses' day-to-day operational activities; Nastiti et al. (2019a) reported that to optimize the efficiency of working capital management, it is vital to analyze the determinants of working capital to help financial managers refine their strategy and technique. Some managers do not efficiently utilize their working capital management process other than to identify a firm's ability to manage the difference between short-term assets and short-term liabilities (Kayani et al., 2019). When analyzing and assessing the working capital management process in business, two important elements should be added as a direct impact on the efficiency level of working capital (Zimon, 2020). These two elements are cost and revenue, which are the managers choice when creating strategies during the management process; additionally, by choosing the cost element some managers can operate the company with financial security and high liquidity, while other managers choose the revenue element that operates the company with high profitability and low liquidity (Zimon, 2020).

The lack of effective management is the main reason for the phenomenon of unavailable working capital and insufficient liquidity for many businesses (Mann et al., 2018). To enhance effective working capital management, Olanisebe and Ado (2019) suggested a proper ownership structure in which serves as a checks and balance mechanism to strengthen corporate governance. Businesses that are financially constrained have a lower optimal working level and businesses with a reduction of investments in working capital has a negative effect on organizational performance (Altaf & Shah, 2017). Therefore, this study will examine if the management of profitable ecommerce businesses effectively utilizes working capital or an aggressive working capital management.

Another major cause of organizational failure is liquidity shortages, because managers need to ultimately understand that the optimization of working capital is to reduce the reliance on the requirement of needing additional working capital to operate and instead realize the maximum available revenue (Kayani et al., 2019). During these times, Asfawu (2019) reported that a manager should consider utilizing short-term financing, to immediately increase the available working capital to take advantage of profitable opportunities. The management of working capital plays a pivotal role in the success of a company, Shrivastava et al. (2017) discussed the importance of maintaining the most highly financially decisive person available in this position to maximize the impact of working capital on profitability. The connection to this study is to recognize the techniques and best practices of working capital through profitable e-commerce businesses in the selected population.

## Working Capital Management: Measurement

The working capital management independent variable in this study regulates the assets, liabilities, and cash conversion cycle of an organization. The manager of working capital has the important task of deciding how much money to spend on current assets and liabilities; the more money a manager spends on assets the less liquidity the company has for emergencies, and the more money a manager spends on liabilities the less profitable the company is due to missed investments (Mehta, 2017). Olanisebe and Ado (2019) suggested that insolvency of a business can be attributed to poor cash flow and/or essential factors that lead to poor cash flow in business; these cash flow issues are related to inefficiencies in working capital management, which means the longer the cash flow cycle the poorer the cash inflow. Maeenuddin et al. (2020) stated that conducting a measurement of an organization's performance measures its profitability; but the result of this measurement also plays an important role in management decisions regarding financial structure, divestment value, acquisition value, project direction, and employee

incentive. In this study, identifying the WCM measurement strategies helps to further the determination of a possible correlation with the e-commerce financial performance.

Prasad et al. (2019) reported that accounts receivables, inventory, and accounts payables are the major components of the operational noncash portion of working capital, and the success of the business is determined by the ability of the finance manager to optimally deal with these variables. Making appropriate sales and forecasts, actively managing the supply chain, granting, and taking proper discounts amongst other activities are undertaken to handle the optimal level of working capital throughout the business (Dorsman & Westerman, 2019). Furthermore, if a manager does not effectively and efficiently manage its current assets and liabilities, the company would be in jeopardy of becoming insolvent (Mehta, 2017). Businesses with shorter cash cycles invest more in research and development, participate in more acquisitions, have a higher valuation, and lower leverage; Jalal and Khaksari (2020) also stated that a business's ability to obtain materials on credit and effectively manage inventory plays a significant role in shortening their cash cycle. Consequently, this study will measure the annual usage percentage of working capital, to determine if a consistent level of utilization exists among the selected e-commerce organizations.

The cash conversion cycle is another approach used by managers to improve working capital; a cash conversion cycle is simply a measurement of how many days it takes a business to convert its inventory, investments, and other resources into cash from sales (Ng et al., 2017; Shrivastava, 2017). The cash conversion cycle is the process of converting accounts receivable and inventory into cash, this cash is then used to pay an organization's accounts payable (Hussain et al., 2020). Le (2019) reported that a firm can increase its profitability by reducing its cash conversion cycle, because a lower cash conversion cycle is usually associated with a lower level of net working capital. The level of cash that a company maintains can be a good proxy for its liquidity position, but this strategy fails to fully account for its management of short-term capital (Jalal & Khaksari, 2020).

Managers use several different strategies to fine-tune their cash conversion cycle, working capital optimization, the evolution of their management team, and organizational policy. The faster a business can cycle and convert its cash, the more likely a manager will be able to be more effective with the business's working capital (Ng et al., 2017). Contingencies like culture, habits, rules, regulations, information technology systems, economic conditions, market, operational development, asset size, sales growth, solvency, and liquidity influence the increase and decrease of the cash conversion cycle (Dorsman & Westerman, 2019). Companies that manage their sales policies well will produce sufficient cash flows for their operating activities and over time to increase their profits (Nastiti et al., 2019a). Production of sufficient cash flows for operating activities is a sustainability strategy that managers can utilize to reduce negative working capital issues. An examination of study participants' sales policies can add to the body of research regarding effective management strategies, as intended in the proposed study.

## Working Capital Management: Previous Research and Findings

A successful manager of working capital can be materially beneficial to the value placed on a business, but the research related to those highly successful tactics is

relatively less known (Bin et al., 2019). The relationship of this study to previous research on working capital management focuses on optimization and at what level, conservative or aggressive, is optimization realized. The need for accurate working capital management is very important, many tried to prove how optimal working capital management will increase profitability, without first proving if an optimal level of working capital exists (Hussain et al., 2020). For this study, a sample size of 107 e-commerce businesses headquartered in the United States from 2019 to 2021 will be used, while focusing on the correlation between working capital and financial performance.

Prior researchers produced numerous studies on working capital optimization, but none were specific to the e-commerce industry. These four prior studies are: (a) the Bin et al. (2019) study on identifying the optimal level of working capital use and determinants needed for working capital management, (b) the Hussain et al. (2020) study on the amount of working capital utilized in exchange rates and its effect on financial performance, (c) the Nastiti et al. (2019b) study on the effects of working capital management on profitability and sustainable growth, and (d) the Ng et al. (2017) study to test the impact of aggressive policies over the use of an organization's working capital. The results of these four prior studies were: (a) the Bin et al. study showed that an optimum level does exist and the determinants identified were used by businesses to operate above and below the optimum level, (b) the Hussain et al. study revealed a negative association between a longer cash conversion cycle and a lower return on assets. In addition to, (c) the Nastiti et al. study showed that sales growth and economic growth both determine the increase in working capital and the increase ratio only differs depending on the size and age of the business, and (d) the Ng et al. study showed that aggressive investment policies had a negative effect on business income, and aggressive financing policies had a positive effect on business income.

These previous researchers did not place their efforts on identifying the existence of optimization. Kabuye et al. (2019) conducted a study that suggest effective working capital management is a significant predictor of financial performance, and internal control systems is not a significant predictor of financial performance. But eventually once an organization has an effective working capital management process in place, they have an adequate internal control system in place to enhance the company's financial performance (Jalal & Khaksari, 2020). In this proposed study, concentration is on working capital management optimization in the e-commerce industry and at what frequency is this working capital management optimal level being reached now by the selected companies in the e-commerce industry.

## Working Capital Management: Relation to the TQM theory

The TQM theory of organizational continuous improvement and the operational goal of working capital optimization are both closely related. Considering that a business can only continuously improve itself until the point of optimization. Bin et al. (2019) suggested that evidence exists that supports the existence of an optimal level of working capital and also that optimization can help to maximize the value of a business. Baker et al. (2017) stated that development of working capital management is relatively neglected, because corporate management follows a moderate approach in which they constantly tradeoff between liquidity, profitability, performance, and value. Organizations should

promote best practices for maintaining optimal working capital investment levels to enhance their performance and sustain growth, and deviation from the optimal level of investments in working capital management affects the overall performance of businesses (Simon et al., 2017).

Sales growth and economic growth determine working capital management, but the effects of working capital management determinants differ depending on organizational size and organizational age (Nastiti et al., 2019a). Managers used several different techniques to improve the effectiveness of working capital. Some of those techniques include decreasing the company's inventory holding period (IHP), decreasing the accounts receivable period (ARP), and increasing the accounts payable period (APP) (Asfawu, 2019; Narwal & Jindal, 2018; Ng et al., 2017). Immediate action is imperative so that working capital management of a business can be improved, while at the same time it is important to also know the consequences of poor working capital management for that same company (Prasad et al., 2019).

Corporate governance and policy creation through board meetings, board independence, board ownership, audit committee, chief financial officer (CFO), or chief executive officer (CEO) help control and anticipate variables in working capital management to a certain degree (Tahir et al., 2019). A company's ability to manage working capital will not only increase their profits but also their growth; Nastiti (2019b) further talked about a concept of sustainable growth that indicates the possibility of an organization maximizing sales growth without having to change financing decisions. Moreover, a company cannot succeed with having more than one goal, a company's only goal should be to maximize its value in the marketplace; because a business hyperfocused on solving a problem in the marketplace maximizes profits and the improvement of other financial performances in the business follows (Le, 2019).

# **Operating Expense Ratio: The Independent Variable**

Despite the many improvements to operational cost efficiency, their still remains a number of business problems preventing managers from maximizing the benefits of an efficient operating expense ratio (Upadhyay et al., 2019). Carswell (2017) argued that management fees and ongoing compliance costs are some of the top factors in increasing operating costs on an organization's profit loss statement. Ewen and Carswell (2019) also talked about management's lack of quantitative information during decision-making as another reason for operational cost inefficiencies. In the proposed study, identification of strategies used by participating SMOs can help determine what specific techniques were used to avoid negative operational cost-efficiency.

The growth of technology caused some smaller organizations to fall behind in operational cost efficiency when compared to their peers (Setyawati, 2016). Such as Ewen and Carswell (2019), which stated that managers having to perform multiple tasks like coordinating programs in addition to their normal duty of managing day-to-day operations will have an indirect negative effect on operating costs. Because utilizing working capital on random operating expenses will influence sales revenue and profit margins in divergent ways (Upadhyay et al., 2019). This study will determine if optimal OER exists between operational expenses and financial performance. Managers remain divided over reducing operating leverage by either substituting fixed costs for variable costs to lower operational costs during downtime or increasing longevity uncertainty by locking in minimum low fixed costs and higher variable costs during peak time (Aboody et al., 2018). The solvency of a business depends on the competence of management, and inadequate decision-making could eventually lead to high operating expenses because of the need to replenish a loss reserve of funds (Umanto et al., 2018). A higher operating expense ratio and low return on assets (ROA) have a significant impact on financial performance, which is indicative of inefficiency and among other specific variables, nevertheless, OER is an important determinant of profitability (Mohanty et al., 2018). While excessive consumption of executives' perquisites and poor investment decisions by management will cause an increase in any business operating cost, but a watchful role in monitoring those managers' expenditures would give organizations the ability to reduce over-investment in assets and liabilities (Jabeen & Ali, 2017).

Discontinuing one income stream operation fosters a decrease in organizational costs (Carswell, 2017). Discontinued operations benefit organizations, because of the manager's discretion when allocating expenses (Kaplan et al., 2020). Kaplan et al. (2020) stated that an income decreasing discontinued operation may be spun off, and when spun off, the discontinued operation would become a new stand-alone entity and lower the operating cost of the original business. Managers use several different methods to lower cost through green eco-friendly service and production, safety, size of operation, and operational leverage (Mao & Wang, 2019). Subsequently, this study will determine if

there is a consistent allocation of operational expenses among the selected profitable ecommerce business.

Green eco-friendly services and productions increase operating cost, but green eco-friendly businesses are an important aspect of an economy and attracts a lot of attention from consumers which increases revenue to overcome the initial increase in operating cost (Mao & Wang, 2019). Safety is another element that management can use to lower operation cost; because many customers care about safety and do not just simply buy products, they invest in the results that they confidently feel that the products will provide (Fiscor, 2020). Fiscor (2020) reported that safety in the service and production industry changed over the years, and to stay competitive a business must evolve with the industry. While individual investor ownership and self-management proved to be statistically significant drivers in lowering business operating expenses, Carswell (2017) found that academia still lacks adequate attention on teaching business operating costs.

OER is a commonly used efficiency indicator that has a significant effect on the operational self-sufficiency of an organization (Gonfa, 2020). Zia ul haq et al. (2020) stated that the investment activity risk is a major factor that determines value premium, which means that this same value premium is the compensation for operating leverage. Vagif (2020) stated that the task of making effective managerial decisions is becoming increasingly important for domestic enterprises and a special role in substantiating management decisions is assigned to marginal analysis; margin analysis is a link between various management functions that allow the ability to make effective management decisions about operational costs, service volume, and production volume in conditions

of increased competition. The increased efficiency of a business's operational cost is vital to longevity in the e-commerce marketplace (Setyawati, 2016). A clear understanding of OER can assist with the identification and classification of activities performed by participating managers to foster sustainability.

### **Operating Expense Ratio: Measurement**

The definition of OER is operating expenses divided by net sales (Chong et al., 2017). OER is also a measure of costs to operate a business compared to the income generated, Chatterjee and Dhaigude (2018) suggested that internal control systems, OER, and business revenue per employee are some of the top factors of an organization's financial performance. By contrast, the essential function of the OER is to measure the efficiency of the organization's ability to use the smallest amount of expenses to generate the desired range of revenue (Patel et al., 2019).

Moreover, Krotov (2016) reported that unfortunately two important uses of operational cost are often plagued by poor understanding, which is that two of the main functions of an OER is to serve as a measurement of organizational spending and to control systematic size differences among multiple internal companies, departments, products, or services so that comparisons can be made. Last, Krotov concluded that operating expense ratios are often at the heart of important capital allocation decisions, because of the corporate critical need for efficient operational cost measures. Free cash flow is another tool used by management to mitigate revenue cost and other operational expenses, in addition to providing a fundamental understanding of firm adjustments to cost structure (Aboody et al., 2018; Chong et al., 2017). Management reduces operating leverage and operating cost by substituting fixed costs with variable costs or vice versa (Aboody et al., 2018). Ni et al. (2012) reported that the OER positively correlates with company value; meaning when the OER goes down the financial performance increases, but when the OER goes up the financial performance decreases. Ultimately, finding an optimal asset size and consequent scale remains a critical challenge for the cost efficiency and profitability of management in a business (Srivastava & Upadhyay, 2019).

## **Operating Expense Ratio: Previous Research and Findings**

Another improvement in OER would be the investment into intangibles, VanderPal (2015) stated that the findings from extensive research and analysis led to understanding the value of investments in intangibles. These intangibles are insignificant costs to the business and often increase revenue over time, thus decreasing the OER on the profit loss statement, ultimately allowing the company to momentarily enjoy competitive advantages in market power and financial outcomes (VanderPal, 2015). Aboody et al. (2018), conducted the first operational expense ratio study, focused on the cost structure choices that managers must make, because sometimes it is advantageous to select a fixed cost for an organization's expenses and in other times a variable cost structure is better. Maroof et al. (2017) conducted a study comparing the operating efficiency of different organizations pre-merger and post-merger.

Findings from Aboody et al.'s (2018) study concluded that in response to reductions in option-based compensations, managers elected to reduce operating leverage by substituting fixed costs with variable costs. The findings from Maroof et al. (2017)

concluded that post-merger organizations operating efficiency improved and the financial leverage risk decline, but unfortunately the total operating expense increased. The examination and identification of managers' strategies to optimize e-commerce financials can be viewed through the lens of the aforementioned studies: (a) investment into intangibles, (b) advantageous cost structures, and (c) operational efficiency (Aboody et al., 2018; Maroof et al., 2017; VanderPal, 2015). Examining managers' decision making regarding fixed and variable costs relates directly with the intentions of the study.

Chakraborty (2017) conducted a study in which indicated that OER and liquid ratio are significant predictors of solvency in a business. Grashuis (2019) performed a study comparing different forms of structured ownership managers with the percentage of different agency cost spent to run their organization. Kalinowski and Puziak (2018) conducted a study about the operating risk of operational leverage and states that each business entity that takes decisions on how to distribute resources is exposed to the risk of volatile conditions that affect the decision taken. Understanding how participating managers determined potential risks and accounted for said risks regarding operational leverage could be of significance. Analysis of the managers' actions and rationale can be used to support new or existing managers with improving sustainability.

The findings from Chakraborty (2017) showed that solvency positively related to organizational return on equity and liquid ratio. Findings from Grashuis (2019) recognized positive relationships of management size to agency cost and illustrate that there is a significant cost saving to the adoption of non-traditional management ownership by organizations. Kalinowski and Puziak's (2018) study results were negative

and found that to have comparable outcomes, management needs to understand that there is no one-size-fits-all and that applicable drawbacks and limitations do exist for each business entity differently. All these studies show in-depth research to reduce organizational costs but accepting and practicing the TQM theory still presents the best possibility of maximizing results through optimization.

# **Operating Expense Ratio: Relation to the TQM Theory**

Managers use several different techniques to improve the efficiency of operational costs (Upadhyay et al., 2019). Business management can choose to level their business through financial leverage or operational leverage, the trade-off between these two are substantial; financial leverage is using the business as collateral to borrow money to purchase assets to improve operations and grow capacity, while operational leverage is using the asset being purchased as collateral through a notes payable contract to purchase assets to improve operations and grow capacity (Kumar & Yerramilli, 2018). VanderPal (2015) reported that innovation is another way to improve company efficiencies through creation of products, services, or processes which would diminish operating expenses. Yatsenko and Hritonenko (2016) reported that this initial increase in operating cost is in part due to businesses only knowing some approximate estimates of future changes in operational cost, which is another challenge to management's decision-making practice during asset adjustments like green eco-friendly replacement.

Upadhyay et al. (2019) discussed the importance of understanding the financial implications of operational spending. Managers use several different methods to control financial impact, increase solvency, ownership structure, and lower operation cost

through discontinued operations (Kaplan et al., 2020). Finally, VanderPal (2015) concluded that on average the impact of advertising expenses is only visible in the short-term, while corporate investment in intangibles like systems, processes, and research and development has a significant positive influence over a long-term operation. Furthermore, recommendations on the choice of replacement techniques, processes, and equipment should follow intensive research in the area being considered (Yatsenko & Hritonenko, 2016). These adjustments are some of the many ways an organization could enhance operational cost savings with the TQM theory acceptance and practice.

## **E-commerce Financial Performance: The Dependent Variable**

Management started to realize that e-commerce allows them the opportunity to bring innovation to the market to increase their competitive advantage more effectively (Svatosova, 2019). The quality level assessment of e-commerce businesses is of grave interest, because quality links to customer satisfaction and customer loyalty, which in turn leads to improved sales, enhanced competitiveness, and profitability for active companies in the e-commerce industry (Tzavlopoulos et al., 2019). Moreover, Bhatt (2020) reported that the e-commerce industry includes a variety of products with different categories that attract consumers across the globe, which brings in sustained revenue. Managers improve their company's e-commerce position with product variety and diversification. The proposed study includes examination of whether participating managers utilized diversification and variety to attain improved profits.

E-commerce is high on the agenda of national competition policy (Weck, 2019). Personal parcels are goods sold through cross-border e-commerce, which does not need to be registered when passing through China; thus, helping smaller foreign producers remain competitive when dealing with the United States, because product registration can be expensive and time-consuming (U.S. China Business Council, 2017). Weck (2019) reported that the interest of politicians and competition agencies alike is to make sure that competition in e-commerce remains authentic and that e-commerce contributes to the establishing single, unfragmented markets along national boundaries.

Managers use several different strategies to adjust to ongoing regulations, compliance policies, the evolution of the e-commerce industry, and consumer trust issues (Urbonaviciute & Maknickiene, 2019). In addition to performance risk, many other various types of risk strengthen uncertainty in management, like financial risk, psychological risk, and social risk that management must avoid mentally characterizing as inertia (Tzavlopoulos et al., 2019). When barriers to e-commerce are overcome, the benefits are substantial; Mbatha and Ngwenya (2018) revealed that high costs, lack of funds, and limited technical know-how are some of the barriers for small e-commerce businesses. The proposed study will include examination of examine strategies used by managers to avoid uncertainties in management. Identification and measurement of the impact of strategies used by managers can be of benefit for new and existing managers.

For businesses to succeed online, especially small businesses, they will need to first build trust with their customers through an ethical relationship (Kitukutha & Olah, 2018). Management's operational goal is to increase the organization's e-commerce financial performance efficiently and effectively to the highest point possible while utilizing the least amount of annual cost; moreover, an organization's performance should routinely be investigated for both financial performance and strategic performance (Chung & Kuo, 2018). With all the benefits that online businesses present to the consumers and companies, it is in the best interest of the businesses to increase its trustworthiness with users (Kitukutha & Olah, 2018). E-commerce is one of the most important megatrends in the economy today, this dynamic growth requires management with tools and suitably to adapt to this ever-improving industry (Kawa, 2017). However, few studies exist that focus on how managers create dynamic growth.

Increased online sales benefit large retailers, but unfortunately also create undue pressure for small retailers (Bhatt, 2020). In 2015, 10% of 250 million Internet users purchased products and goods online, nowadays the e-commerce is a booming market with a far higher percentage of Internet users purchasing products and goods online (Huang, 2017). Errors or misuse of e-commerce cannot be avoided, laws and regulations have not accommodated the responsibilities of each buyer and seller involved in e-commerce transactions equally (Pranadita & Soeparna, 2020). Urbonaviciute and Maknickiene (2019) reported that growth over profits mentality brought a superficial understanding of business financial performance into the e-commerce industry; and for this reason, it is highly necessary for management to analyze and adequately evaluate their company's financial performance for longevity and profits.

### **E-commerce Financial Performance: Measurement**

E-commerce sales grew rapidly after 2013, Urbonaviciute and Maknickiene (2019) noted that e-commerce sales increased from \$1.3 trillion in 2014 to \$2.3 trillion in 2017 and projects to grow to \$4.9 trillion by the end of 2021. The e-commerce market grew by 30% from 2014 to 2019, and researchers also predict the e-commerce market to continue growing well into 2023 (Haryanti & Subriadi, 2020). Performance is the benchmark for business success, and management skills, business strategy, and management culture are the precursors to obtaining and improving desired goals in performance (Octavia et al., 2020).

Success requires either a management strategy or competitive advantage, management strategy is a set of commitments, decisions, and actions necessary for a company to reach competitiveness and obtain an above average rate of return on their investment (Witjara et al., 2019). But to simply remain in business, a company must effectively manage elasticity; elasticity is the ability to simultaneously use a variety of organizational solutions to increase the effectiveness of their operation (Bienkowska & Sikorski, 2016). Furthermore, Bienkowska and Sikorski (2016) reported that elasticity is the basis for the effective operation of a company, this concept requires management to have an in-depth understanding of its science, instead of assuming that elasticity is flexible in the market.

Management strategy is also an effective use of human resources, knowledge, reward system, and employee capacity (Kasasbeh et al., 2017). Human resource management is a vital part of an organization's culture because they deal with the management of employees, recruitment, training, and succession (Kasasbeh et al., 2017). Witjara et al. (2019) then continued that competitive advantage requires capabilities, core competencies, innovation, and alliances. E-commerce performance indicators also quantify the achievement of some company goals, they enable managers to take action by making decisions to achieve the desired goal (Muntean et al., 2016). The previous studies mentioned indicate actions taken by managers, while the proposed study identifies the specific actions in relation to the company's success.

E-commerce performance indicators measure and monitor the likely success of key activities, Muntean et al. (2016) then recommended best practices of identification of up to 10 key e-commerce performance indicators pertaining to a specific activity. Nonfinancial measures are another leading indicator for financial performance; businesses that compete in markets with a higher competition level tend to present a better overall performance when they adjust their operational leverage to maximize production usage (Da Silva Lourenco et al., 2018). Muntean et al. (2016) stated that it is very important to identify all the key e-commerce performance indicators, because they measure company success and provides appropriate context into the business ongoing performance.

## **E-commerce Financial Performance: Previous Research and Findings**

Setyawati (2016) reported that several studies suggest that to improve the operating cost efficiency to the point of corporate profitability, there must be a significant investment in management quality as a prerequisite. Hua et al. (2019) conducted the first financial performance study that aimed to offer empirical insights on how investing in e-commerce capabilities affects the relationship between loyalty programs and financial performance to aid in identifying proper resource allocation strategies. Zia ul haq et al. (2020) conducted the second financial performance study which focused on determining the force behind the value in financial leverage and operating leverage; some say the

determining factor is financial risk distress and others say it is the potential investment risk compensation. All of these studies allow for companies to determine which areas of management quality they focus on to maximize profitability. Intentional and purposeful investment in management quality relates to the proper allocation of financial resources.

Hua et al.'s (2019) study results illustrated that proper allocation of company financial resources to e-commerce initiatives can help improve the impact of loyalty programs on financial performance. Findings from the Zia ul haq et al. (2020) study provided support that links financial performance with operating leverage and also concluded that investment activity risk seems to be the major factor that determines value. Haryanti and Subriadi (2020) reported that the e-commerce competition has also been increasing in line with the industry's growth, thus, for this reason there needs to be an increased research focus on this e-business sustainability.

## **E-commerce Financial Performance: Relation to the TQM Theory**

The rapid development of e-commerce and the growing awareness of consumer consumption on the internet has induced many large retailers to develop their online store to sell products in addition to their traditional stores (Shi et al., 2018). The role of management's entrepreneurship mentality and ability to solve problems is an important component of economic development; and management's capability to understand customers, competitors, and coordinate other functions are essential to gain profit and maximize organizational performance (Octavia et al., 2020). Moreover, national economies have to also adjust and improve their current policies in the fields of regulation, infrastructure, and education to meet the modern requirements raised due to the rapid development and spread of the e-commerce industry (Sepashvili, 2020). The rapid growth and opportunities in the e-commerce market suggest positive management trends. The proposed study seeks to identify the specific strategies and actions taken by managers of successful e-commerce to further contribute to the pool of research on the topic.

Managers use several different techniques to increase operational improvement, financial performance, profitability, and decrease risk (Hua et al., 2019). Reducing delivery cost to improve profitability is a big problem for many e-commerce businesses, some managers look elsewhere to replace the cost, while other managers look to strict time windows, limit customer requests in some areas, and accommodate varying customers' preferences in other areas (Vinsensius et al., 2020). Another problem that increases delivery costs with distribution departments is product returns, complex logistics, redundant logistic links, and blind spots (Zhou et al., 2020). The proposed study seeks to determine how participating managers address and circumvent such issues while maintaining sustainability.

Hua et al. (2019) reported that the competitive nature of e-commerce business requires companies to adopt strategies that highlight their core objectives and properly allocate resources in a way that maximizes their core strengths, because business decisions are simultaneous and continuous; and any business investment if proper, will ultimately increase revenue or decrease expenses through operational efficiencies. Ecommerce strategy, sourcing, and governance are critical issues in a business requiring efficient planning, use, and control of information by managers; furthermore, Lipitakis and Lipitakis (2017) also stated that the basic components for estimating strategic planning are formality, participation, thoroughness, and sophistication: (a) formality is the explicit and systematic creation of procedures, policies, and goals; (b) participation is the involvement of senior and middle management; (c) thoroughness is the extent in which the business uses its access to internal and external experience; and (d) sophistication is the use of a wide range of managerial techniques. Examination of strategies performed by managers, analyzed through the lens of strategic planning further adds to the research topic pool. An examination of strategies performed by managers adds to the pool of research on the topic by distinguishing industry-specific strategies that foster financial sustainability. This examination of strategies would be a contrast with previous studies that provide general examinations and suggestions without consideration of contextual nuances.

E-commerce businesses develop strategies to increase their effectiveness and sustainability to obtain financial performance goals, because typically they do not have a specific strategy and lack a conceptual strategic approach (Svatosova, 2019). Updating and maintaining the business and banking of e-commerce requires constant changes in the fields of regulation, economic development, infrastructure, skill, customer awareness, and technology (Sepashvili, 2020).

Companies employ a variety of means to ensure survival and prosperity to offset the increasing competition in the digital industry (Purbasari et al., 2020). A company's competitive advantage needs to be constantly improved to succeed in the e-commerce market (Purbasari et al., 2020). Organizational innovative competitive advantage can be formed through the integration of relationships, cooperatives, knowledge, management, and technology (Zheng et al., 2019). Lahkani et al. (2020) stated that advancements in information technology allows management to increase the speed of payment, reliability of data, and transparency of transfers. Yu et al. (2017) reported that logistics will cost e-commerce businesses 40% of their product price that customers pay. The proposed study seeks to determine the means by which managers address the stated logistical costs while maintaining sustainability.

A fundamental task of market segmentation is to group customers based on similarities in their needs and preferences, this is how e-commerce businesses utilize consumers' personal data entered into businesses' websites (Tiwari et al., 2018). Business-to-business (B2B) transactions in e-commerce grew substantially from 2000 – 2019, and some managers chose to be proactive by utilizing new technology when it is first available to replace outdated legacy systems, avoid catastrophes, and improve internal and external processes (Monroe & Barrett, 2019). While other managers choose to be reactive by adopting new technology later when the cost of that technology is obsolete (Monroe & Barrett, 2019). These studies provide a solid foundation for future research. The studies do not indicate relationships between the various new technologies and the company's sustainability. The proposed study examines the specific strategies used by managers and considers the lens of new technologies utilized and effectiveness of strategies.

Furthermore, the new e-commerce technology continues to revolutionize the way businesses conduct transactions both in business-to-business and business-to-consumer contexts (Civelek & Ertemel, 2019). Rapid technological development significantly and continuously changes our everyday life, 21st century will be filled with limitless opportunities (Sepashvili, 2020). The growth in evolving demand for e-commerce business increased the organizational need for innovation and quality decision-making skills from management for the benefit of the company's financial performance (Lipitakis & Lipitakis, 2017).

# Transition

Managers use several different techniques to grow profitability through effective working capital management and innovative operational cost efficiency (Wang et al., 2020a). Section 1 encompassed an extensive discussion of the business problem, that many e-commerce operation managers do not manage working capital and operating expenses at optimum levels. Also, in Section 1 was a critical analysis and synthesis of the literature conducted on variables: (a) working capital management, (b) operating expense ratio, and (c) e-commerce financial profit. Section 2 conducts a further review of the problem statement and justification for the study. Section 2 also contains an examination of the reliability and validity of the research study. Last, Section 3 covers the study findings, data results, and hypotheses. Section 3 also presents a recommendation for action, a recommendation for future research, and a study conclusion.

#### Section 2: The Project

This section details the use of correlation to examine the effects of working capital management and operating expense ratio on the e-commerce financial performance of e-commerce companies. Section 2 includes: (a) restatement of study purpose, (b) role of the researcher, (c) participants, (d) research method, (e) research design, (f) population and sampling, (g) ethical research, (h) data collection, (i) data analysis, and (j) study validity. This section also includes a discussion of instruments and techniques that are designed to examine the relationship between working capital management, operating expense ratio, and e-commerce financial performance of ecommerce companies. Last, this section concludes with a summary of Section 2 and an overview of Section 3.

### **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this quantitative correlational study was to examine the relationship, if any, between working capital management, operating expense ratio, and e-commerce financial performance of e-commerce companies. The independent variables were working capital management and operating expense ratio. The dependent variable was e-commerce financial performance. The targeted population was e-commerce businesses that operate in the United States. The implications for positive social change include the possibility for business managers to be better equipped to ensure business sustainability, which can increase the ability to create additional economic opportunities in their local community. Equipping business managers with the tools to foster

sustainability can increase local revenue sources to cycle into the local workforce, residents, vendors, and community.

## **Role of the Researcher**

The role of the researcher in this quantitative study includes engaging in the design, organization, and interpretation of data by analyzing data, simplifying data, and presenting the findings as useful information. In the data collection process, the role of the researcher begins with using the research question as a guide, identifying the study population, and then selecting the sample size (Jutkowitz et al., 2019). In a quantitative study, the researcher works with publicly available archival financial reports without any human participant interaction to independently ensure that data sources are valid and reliable. Riswani et al. (2019) reported that the collection of secondary information is critical to enhancing the credibility of a quantitative correlational study. When using a large population in correlational studies, results should be able to be reproduced under an independent observer, with similar conditions, and similar objectives (McQuinn, 2021). During the research process, researchers must be aware of ethical issues to ensure bias mitigation, reliability, data consistency, and ethical standards (Hom & Van Nuland, 2019).

In all stages of this study, to prevent unethical implications the researcher must select secondary data, use accessible financial information, adhere to the Walden University guidelines, and secure approval from the Institutional Review Board (IRB) before commencing the study. No human participants participated in this study. The Belmont Report and the following were not necessary, because of no participants being in this study: (a) participant protection procedures, (b) confidentiality protocol documents, (c) informed consent forms, (d) precautions for preserving participant integrity, and (e) precautions for preserving participant impartiality (Adashi et al., 2018). The Belmont Report consists of three main characteristics: (a) respect for persons with the right of selfdetermination, (b) beneficence with researchers ensuring the well-being of human subjects, and (c) justice with equitable distribution of benefits and burdens (Anabo et al., 2019). None of these Belmont Report characteristics and precautions listed above will be applied, because again no humans participated in the study.

### **Participants**

Secondary data from the Walden University Library database served as the baseline data source for the study, instead of human participants. To access this secondary data, no permission was necessary, and all available data was free of charge. Small publicly traded e-commerce businesses throughout the United States constitute the target population for this study. Nawaz et al. (2021) suggested that 10% of a large population constitutes a substantial sample size. Naerde and Hukkelberg (2020) stated that sample selection and eligibility criteria improve both the validity and reliability of the study.

The selected sample was composed of 107 small- to medium-sized publicly traded e-commerce businesses, with the financial information gathered from the sample's official website and Walden University's Library database. The sample firms all met three eligibility criteria: (a) the first is balance sheets including documented working capital, (b) the second is itemized detail profit-loss statements, and (c) third the financial statements contained 3 years of consecutive profits. Zeller et al. (2019) reported that organizations that used accounting ratios are normally in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). Davidyan and Waymire (2018) recommended the combination of generally accepted financial principles and accounting ratios to adequately portray financial information to their audience.

## **Research Method and Design**

This quantitative correlational study included examination of the relationship, if any, between working capital management, operating expense ratio, and e-commerce financial performance of e-commerce companies. Crane et al. (2017) reported that academics perceive research methodologies as the standardized means of conducting professional and intellectual research. Kohler et al. (2017) published that analytical research views influence how and why researchers choose some research designs and methodologies over others. The reasons for selecting the quantitative method and the correlational design are highlighted in the paragraphs that follow.

# **Research Method**

For this study, the quantitative methodology was the most suitable to identify relationships. Lago et al. (2019) reported that the goal of a quantitative study is to collect numerical data from a population, then sort, categorize, and plot the results according to the selected time. A quantitative study also methodologically compares data in a systematic manner to emphasize prediction, rationality, and objectivity (Cookson et al., 2021). A qualitative method was not appropriate for this study, because East and Peters (2019) published that a qualitative study prevents the defining of hypotheses and variables before performing the research. Steel et al. (2019) also reported that qualitative studies answer research questions of how, why, and to understand experiences. This study does not use the mixed-method approach because the purpose of this research is to identify only if a relationship exists and not to understand the results of this study. De Allegri et al. (2020) stated that a mixed-method study minimizes the possibility of bias, while generating a synergy to build on findings from a single method. For these reasons, the study used a quantitative approach without the assistance of any other research methodology.

## **Research Design**

The correlational design was more appropriate for this study via the use of regression analysis. Rezigalla (2020) reported that the correlational design identifies associations among two or more variables. In contrast, the focus of experimental research design is the random assignment of subjects to the control group to determine if a specific action will affect the result by manipulating the variables (Mital et al., 2021). The quasi-experimental design is when a researcher seeks to assess a degree of cause and effect and involves a nonrandom selection which is inappropriate for this study (Gianicolo et al., 2021). Researchers need to consider the advantages and disadvantages of correlational, experimental, and quasi-experimental designs when selecting.

## **Population and Sampling**

The target population consisted of small publicly traded e-commerce companies throughout the United States. The justification for the selected population was all of the publicly available relevant data. Odjaremu and Jeroh (2019) stated that audited financial reports are dependable sources. Oroian-Boca (2019) reported that an existing data set is appropriate and cost-efficient for answering research questions. The data set variables were working capital, operating expenses, and financial performance.

Convenience non-probabilistic sampling is the sampling method utilized in this study. Convenience non-probabilistic sampling is a technique that involves selecting units based on their convenience and availability (Benlidayi, 2019). Justification for selecting the convenience non-probabilistic sampling method is to generate a manageable subset of data that accurately represents the population. Azambuja et al. (2020) concluded that the convenience non-probabilistic sampling method is inexpensive, easily accessible, and allows for a quick analyzation of data. A limitation of convenience non-probabilistic sampling is the increased possibility of unconscious bias (Azambuja et al., 2020). Simple random probabilistic sampling is not appropriate for this study, because of the increased risk of inaccurate representation of the larger population after the sample selection (Benlidayi, 2019).

Bujang et al. (2018b) stated that when a sample size is less than 100 datasets for a research study, the total available population should be used instead to increase the reliability of the research. Conducted was a power analysis to determine an acceptable sample size. As shown in Figure 1, the power analysis shows that a minimum sample size for this study is 68 companies for a power level of 80% and an increased sample size of 107 companies for a power level of 95%. Sample size for this study utilized G\*Power version 3.1.9.7 software to calculate the appropriate sample size numbers. The study will use the conventional significance level of 0.05, a statistical power of 0.80, and a medium

effect size of 0.15. Power calculations assist with avoiding Type I and Type II errors by utilizing an adequate number of observations (Zhan et al., 2021).



Figure 1. Power as a function of sample size.

Fasbender et al. (2019) reported that a 95% confidence level suggests that the null hypothesis has a 5% chance of not being true. A company eligible to be included into this study must meet the following criteria: (a) be a small- or medium size business, (b) have an online e-commerce operation, and (c) have a financial profit for three consecutive years (Porzsolt et al., 2019). The sample size exclusion criteria for this study is: (a) not being located in the United States, (b) not having a publicly available balance sheet, and (c) not having a publicly available profit loss statement (Porzsolt et al., 2019).

## **Ethical Research**

Ethics is a vital component of doctoral research (Riswani et al., 2019). Hom and Van Nuland (2019) reported that ethical research does not unfairly violate privacy, confidentiality, and participant trust. The Belmont Report promoted research participant fairness, truth, honesty, standards, and respect (Adashi et al., 2018). The sample did not contain human participants, consequently, the potential for ethical threats were minimal and participant consent forms were non applicable. This quantitative study utilized secondary data which is publicly available and easily accessible from the Walden University Library.

To follow the ethical guidelines of the Institutional Review Board (IRB), researchers at Walden University must obtain proposal approval, gather, and analyze data to complete the doctoral study. The IRB then provided the approval number 04-11-22-1025775. Riswani et al. (2019) stated that a researcher ensures the credibility, trustworthiness, and reliability of their study. Hom and Van Nuland (2019) reported that ethics apply to every stage of a doctoral study, to prevent the inclusion or misinterpretation of sample data. Upon conclusion of the analyzed data, the sample data is: (a) transferred to a Universal Serial Bus (USB) flash drive, (b) encrypted password protected, and (c) destroyed after 5 years of the official doctoral study approval.

### **Data Collection Instruments**

Instruments such as surveys, interviews, and questionnaires were not applicable in this study. Archival data was publicly available for the independent variables working capital management, operating expense ratio, and dependent variable financial
performance from the Walden University library database. To quantify the data associated with this study's independent variables and dependent variable is IBM SPSS Statistics Version 27 to code the sample's annual reports. When coding the sample's annual reports with Microsoft excel, the output range dimensions constitute a score from 0% - 100% of the business's annual revenue. Kim and Woo (2019) reported that there is no perfect score when coding output performance, because there is always room for improvement. Moreover, Precup et al. (2021) stated that business managers tend to base many of their decisions on their company's ability to perform efficiently and effectively. This relationship between previous studies and the current research is the understanding that coding may remain standard. However, the evaluation and determination of positive or effective outputs will need to be examined using the lens applicable to the overall business objective.

The first independent variable is working capital management, which will be measured by working capital from a business's balance sheet (*Working Capital* = *Current Assets* – *Current Liabilities*). Zhang et al. (2021) stated that measurement is the allocation of numbers to quantify a phenomenon. The second independent variable is operating expense ratio, which will be measured by operating expenses from a business's profit loss statement (*Operating Expense Ratio* = *Total Operating Expense* / *Gross Revenue*). Fisher et al. (2018) published that an instrument is a data gathering tool for developing, testing, and using data collection. The financial profit from a business's profit loss statement measures this study's dependent variable, financial performance (*Financial Profit* = *Total Revenue* – *Operating Expense*). Strifler (2018) reported that financial profit is a good choice to measure the financial performance of a business. This all means that the evaluation of the organization's objectives needs to be tracked, examined, and measured through applicable tools.

Next, is the scales of measurement for variables which also appear in Table 3. Nominal data is labeled data that is divided into various groups, Hunter-Thomson (2019) reported that this data is assigned to multiple groups and not measured. Ratio data is a form of numerical quantitative data collected in equal distance between adjacent values (Norman et al., 2017). Ordinal data is categorical data with a set order, whereas the distance between the categories is not known (Hunter-Thomson, 2019). Interval data is a form of numerical quantitative data, Norman et al. (2017) stated that this data has no true zero on a numerical scale.

# Table 3

Variables and their Scale of Measurement

List of the variables	Nominal, Ratio, Ordinal, and Interval
Working Capital Management	Ratio
Operating Expense Ratio	Ratio
Financial Performance	Ratio

Surucu and Maslakci (2020) published that validity is the foundational premise of a measurement and that the instrument tool used, measures what it claims to measure. The validity and reliability of instrument tools are critical indicators of quality research. Thus, the use of audited financial reports of public businesses are reliable sources to help avoid missing data, computation errors, and sample inadequacy (Odjaremu & Jeroh, 2019). While Surucu and Maslakci (2020) promotes the importance of reliable, dependable, and consistent instrument tools used to measure variables.

## **Data Collection Technique**

The research question of the quantitative correlational study is, if any, the relationship between working capital management, operating expense ratio, and financial profit. The datasets derived from the Walden Library database through an electronic system for 107 e-commerce businesses from 2019-2021. These financial statements include the balance sheet and profit-loss statement that contain data relating to annual financial profit of e-commerce businesses. Yilmaz and Guven (2019) stated that structured records are the preferred data collection technique for a quantitative study. Thompson et al. (2018) reported that this systematic collection of financial data is important to ensure relevant, consistent, and comparable data for rigorous analysis.

Secondary data has numerous advantages. Al-Roomy (2017) reported that secondary data is inexpensive to contain by retrieving data from existing web sources. Another advantage to using secondary data is (a) easy access, (b) centrally populated, and (c) and saves time (Thompson et al., 2018). Secondary data is also not without disadvantages. Cirjevskis (2020) stated that collecting data from archival databases is sometimes (a) incomplete, (b) not completely aligned with the study, (c) and suffer from self-reported bias. Yilmaz and Guven (2019) reported that secondary data sometimes do not reflect the current reality of the research question being studied. The limitations of secondary data usage are clear, however, utilizing secondary can be used to determine the need for future research or preliminary areas of focus.

#### **Data Analysis**

Multiple linear regression is the statistical data analysis suitable for this study. Beigzadeh et al. (2020) indicated that many scholars use multiple linear regression when determining the relationship between two independent variables and one dependent variable. Ge and Wu (2020) mentioned that the results from a multiple linear regression test range from -1, which is a negative correlation to +1, which is a positive correlation. The correlation values are identified as being (a)  $r2 \ge 0.61$  as strong, (b)  $0.60 \ge r2 \le 0.35$ as moderate, and (c)  $r2 \le 0.34$  as weak; moreover, Abdullah et al. (2020) also reported that a perfect correlation of -1, 0, and +1 is uncommon.

The statistical analysis technique depends on the number of variables, scale of measurement, and the research question (Hernandez & Mendez, 2020). The multivariate linear regression, analysis of variance (ANOVA), and simple linear regressions were not applicable for this study. Zhou and Wang (2021) stated that multivariate linear regression applies when studying multiple independent variables and multiple dependent variables. Mahboobe et al. (2020) reported that analysis of variance test focus on the effects of different group interventions on a dependent variable. Liaw et al. (2020) stated that a simple linear regression is relevant when studying one independent variable and one dependent variable. Overall, this justifies the selection of multiple linear regression as the statistical data analysis tool to answer this study's research question.

Moreover, Beigzadeh et al. (2020) indicates that the use of a multiple linear regression analysis may determine the existence of an independent and dependent variable relationship more accurately if the study contains a p-value < 0.5 to reject the

null hypothesis and a  $r2 \ge 0.35$  which shows a strong correlation. Ge and Wu (2020) reports that a r2 is a measure of the variance in the dependent variable by the independent variable. This is why Abdullah et al. (2020) claims that a multiple regression analysis is the ultimate statistical test to determine a relationship between independent variables and dependent variable.

Discrepancies may arise in a study from missing data, editing data, and cleaning data. Missing data from a study can be unintentionally or intentionally omitted (Piech et al., 2020). Editing discrepancies in a study may occur from duplicate entries (Woolley et al., 2020). Discrepancies created during the study cleaning process is presence of invalid information in the dataset (Wang et al., 2020b). All these discrepancies can be avoided by using systematic checks in Microsoft Excel, IBM SPSS version 27, and manually reviewing data inputted after entry.

## **Study Validity**

The correlation research design of this study examines the relationship, if any, between working capital management, operating expense ratio, and financial profit. According to Musa et al. (2021) internal validity verification is not common to correlational studies; therefore, internal validity was not considered for this study. Moreover, Krishnan (2018) stated that internal validity is only relevant in studies that employ an experimental or quasi-experimental design. This is relevant, because this current study contains an examination of secondary data sources in which to draw conclusions. Internal validity does not apply. Threats to statistical conclusion validity are: (a) reliability of the instrument, (b) data assumptions, and (c) sample size. Jung et al. (2020) stated that Type I and Type II errors may inflate the statistical analysis findings. Type I errors occur when a null hypothesis is rejected during a hypothesis testing when the hypothesis should not be rejected (Jung et al., 2020). Type II errors occur when a null hypothesis is accepted during a hypothesis test when the hypothesis should be rejected (Jung et al., 2020). Statistical conclusion validity is about making an accurate assessment and appropriate use of statistics to arrive at accurate decisions about accepting or rejecting hypotheses and determining the strength of independent and dependent variables (Guetterman, 2019). An important step in producing high quality research findings is using many approaches and paying close attention to overcome threats to validity (Krishnan, 2018). The relevance here is the use of multiple secondary data sources for the current study assists with curtailing type I and type II errors in this study.

Jaghsi et al. (2021) reported that addressing the reliability of the instrument enhances the validity of the study and enables future replication of the research. The correlation coefficient (R) and the coefficient of determination (R<sup>2</sup>) are indicators used in this study to determine the strength of the independent and dependent variable relationships. Bujang et al. (2018a) emphasized researchers have a tendency to evaluate internal consistency by calculating Cronbach's alpha (a), better known as coefficient alpha. While researchers like Musa et al. (2021) suggest that calculations with a coefficient alpha of (a)  $a \ge 0.7$  is good, (b)  $a \ge 0.8$  is better, and (c)  $a \ge 0.9$  is best. Moreover, internal consistency reliability checks performed during this study validated the reliability of data.

Data assumptions were a vital component of this study (Tan et al., 2021). A power analysis was a key component utilized to determine a suitable sample size (Zhan et al., 2021). The computer software G\*Power version 3.1.9.7 recommended a sample size of 107 e-commerce businesses for a power level of 95%. Jung et al. (2020) stated that the more samples used in a sample size, reduces the likelihood of a Type II error. While Bujang et al. (2018b) suggested researchers to use a sample size greater than 100 for better results.

A sample size of 107 e-commerce businesses enhanced the external validity of this study. Krishnan (2018) stated that when addressing the external validity, researchers must evaluate the effects of their research. Mathes et al. (2021) published a strategy to overcome external validity threats is an adequate sample size that is a representation of the population. Moreover, if the sample size is not an accurate representation of the population the major threat to external validity is selection bias, and unfortunately a researcher cannot generalize the findings of a biased sample (Krishnan, 2018; Murad et al., 2018). The higher the sample size representation of the population, the higher the sample size representation of the results (Mathes et al., 2021). Krishnan (2018) suggested to use the validity section of a study to state the extent to which the research can be accurately measured. This current study meets the stated recommendations through use of the G\*Power version 3.1.9.7 software. Participants accurately represent the target population and selection bias is not applicable.

## **Transition and Summary**

Section 2 included examination of the: (a) role of the researcher, (b) participants, (c) research method, (d) research design, (e) population and sampling, (f) ethical research, (g) data collection instruments, (h) data collection technique, (i) data analysis, and (j) study validity. Section 2 included explanation of the rationale for selecting a quantitative method and correlational design study. Section 3 included the: (a) presentation of the findings and (b) applications to professional practice. Section 3 also included the: (a) implications for social change, (b) recommendations for action, and (c) recommendation for further research. Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change

# Introduction

The purpose of this quantitative correlational study was to examine the relationship, if any, between working capital management, operating expense ratio, and e-commerce financial performance of e-commerce companies. The independent variables were working capital management and operating expense ratio. The dependent variable was e-commerce financial performance. This section presents a presentation of the findings, descriptive statistics, statistical assumptions, inferential statistics, and theoretical framework analysis of the findings. The research question focused on whether a relationship exists between WCM, OER, and EFP within small/medium sized publicly traded U.S. e-commerce companies. The null hypothesis was that a significant relationship does not exist between WCM, OER, and EFP within small/medium sized publicly traded U.S. e-commerce companies. The null hypothesis was rejected and the alternative hypothesis was accepted. The analyzed secondary data showed that the working capital management and operating expense ratio significantly predicted e-commerce financial performance.

### **Presentation of the Findings**

Overall, the findings indicated a statistically significant relationship between the components of WCM, OER, and EFP; p < 0.001, led to the rejection of the null hypothesis that there is no statistically significant relationship between WCM, OER, and EFP. The multiple linear regression analysis was the statistical test used to determine the relationship between the independent variables WCM, OER, and dependent variable

EFP. The independent variables WCM and OER showed a positive relationship when measured against EFP. A presentation of a combination of tables and figures describe the quality of the gathered data and validity of the used statistical model. Employment of a simple statistical model facilitates the replication of the study (Prasanna, 2018). Using a simple statistical model allows researchers to (a) easily corroborate secondary data, (b) assess measuring mechanisms, and (c) evaluate the results that emerge (Christiansen, 2019).

Figures 2, 3, and 4 reveals the working capital used for each company and the financial profit generated each year. Figures 2, 3, and 4 scatter plots also contain the same 107 small- and medium-sized e-commerce businesses, but different working capital amounts and annual financial profit amounts that changed from year to year. Converting the dataset dollars into percentages of revenue was necessary to view both small- and medium-sized companies on the same graph. In Figures 2, 3, and 4 the small- and medium-sized businesses both tend to use a lesser percentage of working capital to produce a product or service for sale, as the financial profit percentage increases.



Figure 2. 2021 Scatter plot of WCM and EFP.



Figure 3. 2020 Scatter plot of WCM and EFP.





Figures 5, 6, and 7 shows the operating expense used for each company and the financial profit generated each year. Figures 5, 6, and 7 scatter plots also contain the same 107 small- and medium-sized e-commerce businesses, but different operating expense amounts and annual financial profit amounts that changed from year to year. Converting the dataset dollars into percentages of revenue was necessary to view both small- and medium-sized companies on the same graph. In Figures 5, 6, and 7 the small- and medium-sized businesses both tend to use a lesser percentage of operating expense to sale the produced product or service, as the financial profit percentage increases. Upadhyay et al. (2019) stated that this systematic decreasing of operating expense is a management best practice, whereas payroll, advertisement, supplies, and other common operating expenses are budgeted at a certain percentage of the forecasted revenue.



Figure 5. 2021 Scatter plot of OER and EFP.



Figure 6. 2020 Scatter plot of OER and EFP.





Figures 8, 9, and 10 below reveals the revenue used for each company and the financial profit generated each year. Figures 8, 9, and 10 scatter plots also contain the same 107 small- and medium-sized e-commerce businesses, but different revenue amounts and annual financial profit amounts that changed from year to year. Converting the dataset dollars into percentages of revenue was necessary to view both small- and medium-sized companies on the same graph. In Figures 8, 9, and 10 the small- and medium-sized businesses are differentiated by their level of revenue. Most of the 107 dataset samples are small-sized ecommerce businesses with revenue ranging from \$20 million to \$3 thousand.



Figure 8. 2021 Scatter plot of Revenue and EFP.



Figure 9. 2020 Scatter plot of Revenue and EFP.



Figure 10. 2019 Scatter plot of Revenue and EFP.

# **Descriptive Statistics**

Descriptive statistics allow researchers to present important statistics to serve as a foundation for further analysis (Nethmini & Ismail, 2019). Descriptive statistics explain the basic features of data in the study, such as the measures of variability and the measures of central tendency (Mishra et al., 2019). Prabhakaran and Karthika (2018) mentioned that companies with a profitability of 5% or higher constitute better investments. The statistical mean for this study surrounding profitability was (see Table 4) 31.04%, (see Table 5) 31.04%, (see Table 6) 30.47%, proving that the gathered datasets were suitable for this study. The data in Tables 4, 5, and 6 below includes 107 profitable e-commerce businesses covering the period 2019–2021. The tables below also

show the descriptive statistics surrounding the sample: (a) variables, (b) minimum, (c)

maximum, (d) mean, and (e) standard deviation.

Table 4

2021 Descriptive Statistics for Quantitative Study Variables

Variables	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Standard Deviation
WCM	0.00%	2.49%	0.29%	0.62%
OER	0.00%	99.97%	68.68%	18.30%
ERP	0.03%	97.59%	31.04%	18.02%

Table 5

2020 Descriptive Statistics for Quantitative Study Variables

Variables	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Standard Deviation
WCM	0.00%	2.49%	0.29%	0.62%
OER	0.00%	99.97%	68.68%	18.30%
ERP	0.03%	97.59%	31.24%	18.02%

# Table 6

2019 Descriptive Statistics for Quantitative Study Variables

Variables	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Standard Deviation
WCM	0.00%	2.49%	0.30%	0.62%
OER	0.00%	99.97%	69.24%	18.42%
ERP	0.03%	97.59%	30.47%	18.13%

# **Test of Assumptions**

The assumptions of homogeneity of variance and normality of data were evaluated by employing IBM SPSS version 27. The statistical test, tables, and figures presented in this section outlined the decision-making process which eliminated 11 organizations due to (a) five organizations missing data, (b) four organizations not having consecutive years of profitable periods, and (c) two organizations not operating completely in e-commerce. The use of bootstrapping statistics was not needed during this study to combat any influence of assumption violations. Bootstrapping is used to estimate historical probabilities when accurate data does not exist for the period being studied (Begus, 2020). Muller (2020) reported that the use of bootstrapping statistics to estimate calculations of expenses may lead to researcher bias.

# **Inferential Statistics**

For the purpose of this quantitative correlational study, a multiple linear regression model examined the relationship between WCM, OER, and EFP of 107 ecommerce organizations. This model significantly predicted profitability through a multiple linear regression, F(2, 104) = 4.684, p < 0.001,  $R^2 = 1.000$ , as shown in Table 7, 8, and 9. In the regression analysis summary, Table 10, both WCM and OER was highly statistically significant ( $\beta = -0.34$ , t = -9332835.434, p < .001;  $\beta = -1.016$ , t = -1.016275081494.2, p < .001). Beigzadeh et al. (2020) mentioned that the use of a multiple linear regression analysis is to determine the relationship between two independent variables and one dependent variable. The p value for the study model was less than 0.05. The  $R^2$  (1.000) value indicated that approximately 99.99% of variations in the financial performance is accounted for by the independent variables. This implies that the two independent variables are statistically significant. Since p < 0.05, the null hypothesis stating that there is no significant relationship between WCM, OER, and EFP is rejected. The R<sup>2</sup> value of 1.000 demonstrates that when measured against WCM and OER, EFP has a significant relationship. Abdullah et al. (2020) published that statistical models

capable of producing an R<sup>2</sup> between 0.35 and 0.60 showcase a significant level of relationship between independent and dependent variables, while 0.61 through 1.000 shows a highly significant relationship. As presented in Tables 7, 8, 9, and 10 below, the multiple linear regression model summary and analysis summary demonstrates that an effective and efficient implementation of WCM and OER at higher levels does equate to an increase in financial performance.

Table 7

2021 Model Summary

Variable	P-value	R	R <sup>2</sup>
WCM	0.001	1.000	1.000
OER	0.001	1.000	1.000

Table 8

2020 Model Summary

Variable	P-value	R	$\mathbb{R}^2$
WCM	0.001	1.000	1.000
OER	0.001	1.000	1.000

Table 9

2019 Model Summary

Variable	P-value	R	R <sup>2</sup>
WCM	0.001	1.000	1.000
OER	0.001	1.000	1.000

Table 10

**Regression Analysis Summary** 

Variable	β	SE $\beta$ $\beta$	t	р	<i>B</i> 95% Bootstrap CI
WCM	-1.000	0.00134	-9332835.434	.001	[-1.000, -1.000]
OER	-1.000	0.001 -1.016	-275081494.2	.001	[-1.000, -1.000]
Note. N=	107.				

### **Theoretical Framework on the Findings**

One of the most important parts of this study is Deming's (1982) TQM theory, which served as the theoretical framework on the findings. This section includes a description on, in what ways, does the findings confirm and extend knowledge of the theoretical framework on the relationship between WCM, OER, and EFP. As applied to this study, the TQM theory suggest that a strong correlation between WCM, OER, and EFP does exist. This discovery of a strong correlation emerged by comparing the findings with other peer-reviewed studies from the literature review, while simultaneously not allowing interpretations to exceed the data, findings, and scope of the study. Deming's (1982) philosophy of continual efficiency and effectiveness improvement, conceptualizes a business as a whole system instead of compartmentalizing each section of a business's operation (Breja et al., 2010, as cited in Breja et al., 2016). The central concept in Deming's (1982) TQM philosophy is that management can improve profitability through efficient and effective management of WCM and OER (Duncan & Luchs, 2017, as cited in Kennedy, 2018). This theory was optimal to explain the relationship between WCM, OER, and EFP.

The application of the TQM to business practice facilitated the identification, optimization, and implementation of a more robust and comprehensive approach to profit maximization. The theory predicts that efficiently and effectively analyzing, adjusting, and managing business operations holistically, increases the expectation of the company's performance (Duncan & Luchs, 2017, as cited in Kennedy, 2018). The multiple linear regression results that WCM and OER are significant predictors of firm profitability, is in line with the propositions of the TQM as a theoretical framework. Regarding the practical application of the TQM theoretical framework, managers must pay considerable attention to the efficient use of WCM (Kolias et al., 2020). Mohanty et al. (2018) stated that the effective management of OER involves the formulation and implementation of best business practices. The significant relationship between the TQM and firm profitability, shows that the primary focus of management is optimization of an efficient and effective business operation (Precup et al., 2021). Remember, rather than focusing on one or two factors, managers seeking superior financial performance may find it necessary to manage their business operation holistically (Kaushik & Chauhan, 2019). The findings in this study are consistent with the theory in this area.

### **Applications to Professional Practice**

The findings of this study showed that WCM and OER, which apply to professional business practices in several ways, are significant predictors of firm profitability. These results first show that some managers of companies do understand the data, magnitude, and direction of the relationship between WCM, OER, and firm profitability (EFP). This evidence on the dynamic linkage between WCM and OER adds to the existing body of knowledge written in the literature review on the subject matter. Secondly, the multiple linear regression results show that WCM and OER predict a stronger firm profitability at higher levels of revenue. For example, this study found that the WCM and OER made a better contribution to firm profitability when the selected companies produced a higher revenue. Furthermore, these findings indicate that small business managers should prioritize and identify components, WCM and OER, as critical predictors to achieve intended results. Eldomiaty et al. (2018) stated that the use of a selective approach to working capital optimization is practical and effective. Third, this study showed that the efficient and effective concepts of TQM provide the framework for key predictors, WCM and OER, to produce firm profitability. The applicability of this finding presents that small business managers should focus more on drivers of firm profitability (Assous, 2022).

Consistent with my expectations in this study, a positive relationship emerged from the analyzed statistical data. Yes, WCM and OER are a predictor of e-commerce financial performance. Fanti and Buccella (2018) found that the presence of a significant relationship creates a sense of competition among business managers, and promotes genuine socially responsible actions among small and medium sized organizations. Harjoto (2019) reported that business managers face the challenge maximizing operational profit, while simultaneously entertaining socially responsible demands of organization shareholders. These multiple linear regression WCM and OER findings show that after implementation of TQM, it is safe to assume that efficient strategies and effective initiatives could render positive correlation financial performance. Eldomiaty et. al. (2018) stated that small business managers are responsible for aligning their organization direction with their operational requirements, revenue targets, and market expectations. Assous (2022) published that another important area of application is the need to use multiple measures of financial performance predictors to cater to organizational directives. Managers responsible for critical operational decisions should apply the knowledge gained from this study to drive operational efficiency, financial profitability, and revenue growth.

## **Implications for Social Change**

The implications for positive social change include the potential to provide business managers with a better understanding of the relationship between WCM, OER, and EFP. The findings of this study confirmed that the WCM and OER are significant predictors of profitability, and provide managers with the necessary tools to identify and prioritize business practices critical to the benefit of social change. Improved knowledge of the different effects on firm profitability may help managers to find an optimal combination between conservative and aggressive utilization of WCM and OER (Morshed, 2020). The integration of sound business practices in WCM and OER is the foundation for long-term competitive advantage and potential social change (Bittar-Godinho & Masiero, 2019). In addition, the implications for positive social change include the potential to improve communities to the extent that they can attract capital, investment, better goods, and quality services for the benefit of society (Segovia-Vargas et al., 2021).

The implications for noteworthy social change include taking into consideration the development of socially responsible strategies used by individuals in their communities. As business managers optimize their WCM and OER, they may increase their investment into vendors located in the community. Profitable organizations may also invest in the infrastructure and cultures of which they market their businesses. Morshed (2020) stated that investments in internal organization capabilities and external organizational development may translate into significant social changes. Segovia-Vargas et al. (2021) reported that profitable businesses have a higher likelihood of providing better goods and quality services to the community. To achieve optimal social change, business managers must first understand effective and efficient investment into the targeted community. Increasing profitability through WCM and OER optimization is another key implication for social change. Publicly traded companies could benefit society through lower priced goods, employment opportunities, or valuable stock purchase. Bittar-Godinho and Masiero (2019) published that organizational managers must understand that some communities expect the implementation of socially responsible programs. Therefore, all of these positive actions contribute to a better quality of life in whole or in part to the community.

#### **Recommendations for Action**

Based on the findings of the study, the highly significant relationship discovered between WCM, OER, and EFP supports four recommendations for action. Seth et al. (2021) reported that small businesses frequently use an unsystematic and informal approach to WCM. The first recommendation for action is that managers of small and medium sized organizations should pay close attention to the use of their WCM, because as revenue increases the percentage of WCM needed to produce products and services decreases. The second recommendation for action is to implement capital strategies that lead to efficient management of the OER, because operating expenses should not rise at the same rate as revenue. The third recommendation for action is to implement an effective organizational structure to involve all managers in the understanding that significant predictors of profitability, WCM and OER, can be used as strategic tools to maximize performance of the company. Morshed (2020) noted that sufficient information is available to suggest that certain levels of relationship between WCM, OER, and financial performance exists. The fourth and final recommendation for action is that business leaders should use the TQM philosophy as a theoretical framework to align all of their business operations as a whole to effectively and efficiently accomplish their organizational objectives.

Business managers may use data from this study as an analytical tool to predict the optimum use of WCM and OER on their business profitability. Corporate managers need to be mindful of the size of the firm that they are managing and examine the results of this study to determine which WCM and OER practices correlate with their business profitability (Morshed, 2020). The results of this study will be disseminated through publications in a peer reviewed journal. Ozemre and Kabadurmus (2020) suggested that publishing the results of a study allows a larger population access to the study findings, which may guide future strategic decisions. This study findings will also be disseminated through scholarly journals, business journals, workshops, and conferences.

#### **Recommendations for Further Research**

Four recommendations emerged from the data analysis process and data collection for future research and improvement, as this study was not without limitations. Further research on the relationship between WCM, OER, and EFP will significantly enhance current literature by creating a more diversified and in-depth study. The first recommendation is to use a sample comprised of international organizations, because samples used in this study was composed of only companies headquartered in the United States. Addressing a larger geographical area might provide more adequate data to analyze the significance of the variables under study fully (Ihantamalala et al., 2020). Also, researchers aiming to replicate and further this study should focus on large and mega-sized organizations to better compare and contrast the working capital optimization practices (Song et al., 2022).

The second recommendation for further research is to perform a qualitative or mixed-method approach to allow for a richer investigation of the dynamics surrounding financial performance. Future researchers should supplement financial records with a qualitative or mixed method approach for a more comprehensive picture of current WCM and OER practices and experiences. A mixed method approach would provide an opportunity to collect primary data and account for several internal and external factors that influence financial performance (Abriham, 2021). The third recommendation for further research is to examine different industries instead of ecommerce to focus on a comprehensive understanding of financial performance. This study was limited to only ecommerce businesses, therefore WCM and OER practices may differ in other industries as optimization may depend on the management of other factors such as supply vendors and customers (Skoracka et al., 2018). Last, the fourth and final recommendation for further research is privately held companies. Unlike the publicly held companies used in this study, privately held companies are under far less pressure from shareholders to perform financially. Moreover, Murdoch et al. (2020) suggested that privately held companies are under less regulatory restrictions and financial reporting requirements.

# Reflections

The determination to pursue a doctoral degree through this DBA program began with a lot of interest and little confidence. This DBA journey at Walden University has been rigorous, challenging, enlightening, rewarding, and life changing. To overcome the academic challenges at a doctoral level required a lot energy, time, and effort. The understanding and in-depth knowledge of WCM and OER on financial performance was thoroughly increased through this quantitative study. Previous experiences did not influence this study's results, because secondary archival data and a quantitative correlational design was used to overcome preconceptions of the relationship between WCM, OER, and EFP. Lear et al. (2018) suggest that researchers cannot reduce biases of which they are unaware. Moreover, Wassermann et al. (2018) acknowledged that a methodological approach to reduce the introduction of some forms of bias should be considered during data collection and other sections of the study.

Possible effects of this study could enhance current literature on the optimization business problem by utilizing the theoretical framework of TQM through a significant amount of consolidated peer reviewed articles that served as validation and foundation. Nealon and Cook (2021) noted that some researchers use a single measurement when viable, whereas others use multiple measures to arrive at convenient and quick assumptions in business practice. Cheyne et al. (2021) published that mapping out multiple measures of data, offer more clarity and better support for the business problem under study. The information garnered after completing this study provided valuable insight for managers of ecommerce businesses and future researchers. Beliefs and perceptions were positively changed for the better after the completion of this study by using a sample of 107 organizations to produce a highly significant relationship between WCM, OER, and EFP.

## Conclusion

The findings of this study confirmed that WCM and OER are highly significant predictors of firm profitability. The general business problem was that many e-commerce operation managers do not manage working capital and operating expenses at optimum levels. Therefore, the scatterplot in Figure 2 and Figure 3 shows that over time profitable businesses increase revenue, decrease working capital, decrease operating expenses, and increase financial performance. Unfortunately, Mwatsika (2021) noted that a lot of companies go out of business within 5 years before ever figuring out the correct optimization level. Ebabu (2021) published that achieving an efficient and effective financial performance remains an important objective for organizations to avoid operational failure. Hence, these two independent variables, WCM and OER, are used in this study to ignite strategic thinking among business managers, professionals, and fellow researchers to increase the longevity of an organization. Moreover, the theoretical framework used to shape this study has helped to contribute to the current academic TQM literature in a positive manner. Small business managers should use the results of this study as a guide for assessing their WCM and OER to enhance their organization financial performance. Future researchers may benefit from the business managers that create critical thinking strategies to improve profitability measures from this study.

#### References

- Abdullah, S., Napi, N., Ahmed, A., Mansor, W., Mansor, A., Ismail, M., Abdullah, A., & Ramly, Z. (2020). Development of multiple linear regression for particulate matter (pm10) forecasting during episodic transboundary haze event in Malaysia. *Atmosphere, Basel 11*(3), 1-14. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/atmos11030289</u>
- Aboody, D., Levi, S., & Weiss, D. (2018). Managerial incentives, options, and coststructure choices. *Review of Accounting Studies, 23*(2), 422-451.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s11142-017-9432-0

- Abriham, E. (2021). The effect of external factors on industry performance: the case of Lalibela city micro and small enterprises, Ethiopia. *Journal of Innovation and Entrepreneurship*, 10(1), 1-14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13731-021-00147-7</u>
- Acikgoz, T., & Kilic, G. (2021). Investigation of financial performance and market value of technology firms with DuPont-regression analysis. *Journal of Accounting & Finance, 1*(90), 209-225. <u>https://doi.org/10.25095/mufad.873937</u>
- Adashi, E., Walters, L., & Menikoff, J. (2018). The Belmont report at 40: reckoning with time. American Journal of Public Health, 108(10), 1345-1348. http://dx.doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2018.304580

Agrawal, N. (2019). Modeling deming's quality principles to improve performance using interpretive structural modeling and MICMAC analysis. *The International Journal of Quality & Reliability Management 36*(7), 1159-1180. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJQRM-07-2018-0204</u>

Al-Roomy, M. (2017). Esp in a saudi context: where does it stand? Journal of Language

*Teaching and Research*, 8(6), 1109-1115. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.17507/jltr.0806.11</u>

- Altaf, N., & Shah, F. (2017). Working capital management, firm performance and financial constraints. *Asia-Pacific Journal of Business Administration*, 9(3), 206-219. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/APJBA-06-2017-0057</u>
- Anabo, I., Elexpuru-Albizuri, I., & Villardon-Gallego, L. (2019). Revisiting the belmont report's ethical principles in internet-mediated research: perspectives from disciplinary associations in the social sciences. *Ethics and Information Technology*, 21(2), 137-149. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10676-018-9495-z</u>
- Archer, S., Hull, L., Soukup, T., Mayer, E., & Athanasiou, T. (2017). Development of a theoretical framework of factors affecting patient safety incident reporting: a theoretical review of the literature. *British Medical Journal Open*, 7(12), 1-17.
   <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2017-017155">http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2017-017155</a>
- Asfawu, A. (2019). Impact of working capital management on profitability of small and medium scale enterprises. *Srusti Management Review*, 12(2), 97-107. <u>http://www.srustimanagementreview.ac.in</u>
- Assous, H. (2022). Prediction of banks efficiency using feature selection method:
   Comparison between selected machine learning models. *Complexity Hoboken*, 2022(1), 1-15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2022/3374489</u>
- Azambuja, G., Garcia-Arrizabablaga, I., & Rodriquez-Pena, G. (2020). Analyzing the purchase intention of peruvian maca. *Journal of Enterprising Communities*, *14*(1), 91-112. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/JEC-09-2019-0083</u>
- Baker, H., Kumar, S., Colombage, S., & Singh, H. (2017). Working capital management

practices in India: survey evidence. *Managerial Finance*, 43(3), 331-353. https://doi.org/10.1108/MF-07-2016-0186

Barto, T., & Guzman, I. (2018). An equity theory view of personal information disclosure in an online transactional exchange. *Revised Electronic System Information*,

17(1), 1-40. https://doi.org/10.21529/RESI.2018.1701002

- Bassole, G., Ivanov, S., Anyu, J., Wu, D., & Xu, F. (2020). Brief evaluation of a bank brunch: can simple recommendations improve the work of organizations? *International Journal of Organizational Innovation*, *12*(3), 66-73.
  <u>http://www.ijoi-online.org/</u>
- Begus, G. (2020). Estimating historical probabilities of natural and unnatural processes. *Phonology Cambridge, 37*(4), 515-549.

https://doi.org/10.1017/S0952675720000263

- Beigzadeh, B., Bahrami, M., Amiri, M., Mahmoudi, M. (2020). A new approach in adsorption modeling using random forest regression, Bayesian multiple linear regression, Bayesian multiple linear regression, and multiple linear regression: 2,4-d adsorption by a green adsorbent. *Water Science and Technology*, *82*(8), 1586-1602. <u>https://doi.org/10.2166/wst.2020.440</u>
- Benlidayi, I. (2019). Statistical accuracy in rheumatology research. *Mediterranean Journal of Rheumatology*, *30*(4), 207-215. <u>https://doi.org/10.31138/mjr.30.4.207</u>

Bhandari, S., Showers, V., Johnson-Snyder, A. (2019). A comparison: accrual versus

cash flow based financial measures' performance in predicting business failure. Journal of Accounting and Finance, 19(6), 11-25.

https://doi.org/10.33423/jaf.v19i6.2313

- Bhatt, S. (2020). An empirical analysis of retailers' perception towards e-retailing with reference to the brick and click approach. *International Management Review*, *16*(2), 65-75. <u>http://www.americanscholarspress.us/journals/IMR/pdf/IMR-2-2020/IMR-v16n2art5.pdf</u>
- Bienkowska, J. & Sikorski, C. (2016). Hyperflexibility a feature of e-commerce organisations. *Management*, 20(2), 210-223. <u>https://doi.org/10.1515/manment-</u> 2015-0061
- Bin, L., Chen, J., & Tran, D. (2019). Exploring the determinants of working capital management: evidence across east Asian emerging markets. Economics Management & Financial Markets, 14(2), 11-45.

http://dx.doi.org/10.22381/EMFM14220191

- Bittar-Godinho, J., & Masiero, G. (2019). Political csr and legitimation via corporate fountain: a public management program. *Social Responsibility Journal*, 15(4), 553-570. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/SRJ-02-2018-0053</u>
- Boisjoly, R., Conine, T., & McDonald IV, M. (2020). Working capital management: financial and valuation impacts. *Journal of Business Research*, 108(1), 1-8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2019.09.025

Bolatan, G., & Akgul, A. (2019). Analysis of the relationship between strategic planning

and total quality management. Cag University Journal of Social Sciences, 16(2),

1-19. https://dergipark.org.tr/cagsbd

- Breja, S., Banwet, D., & Iyer, K. (2016). Towards sustainable excellence: strategic analysis of deming prize winning companies. *Total Quality Management Journal*, 28(3), 390-410. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/TQM-09-2012-0070</u>
- Breja, S., Banwet, D., & Iyer, K. (2010). Role of flexibility in sustaining excellence: case of a tqm company. *International Journal of Productivity and Quality Management*, 5(3), 333-365.

https://www.inderscience.com/jhome.php?jcode=ijpqm

- Brown, B., & Spang, E. (2008). Double talk: synthesizing everyday and science language in the classroom. *Science Education*, 92(4), 708-732. https://doi.org/10.1002/sce.20251
- Brown, P. (2020). Research into student mental health: where have we come and how can we improve? *Journal of Public Mental Health*, 19(1), 9-12. https://doi.org/10.1108/JPMH-11-2019-0097
- Bujang, M., Omar, E., & Baharum, N. (2018a). A review on sample size determination for cronbach's alpha test: a simple guide for researchers. *The Malaysian Journal* of Medical Sciences, 25(6), 85-99. <u>https://doi.org/10.21315/mjms2018.25.6.9</u>
- Bujang, M., Sa'at, N., Sidik, T., & Joo, L. (2018b). Sample size guidelines for logistic regression from observational studies with large population: emphasis on the accuracy between statistics and parameters based on real life clinical data. *The*

Malaysian Journal of Medical Sciences, 25(4), 122-130.

https://doi.org/10.21315/mjms2018.25.4.12

- Butt, J., & Ivanov, S. (2017). Study of a large office supply retail organization: how good companies slowly go out of business. *International Journal of Organizational Innovation*, 9(4), 110-115. <u>http://www.ijoi-online.org/</u>
- Carder, B. (2019). Joy in the workplace is a business advantage. *Journal for Quality & Participation, 42*(1), 25-27. <u>http://www.asq.org/</u>
- Carswell, A. (2017). An analysis of operating expense control within us multifamily properties. *Property Management, 35*(1), 48-66. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/PM-10-2015-0053</u>
- Castellano, J., Roehm, H., & Shaw, C. (2016). Maintenance required. *Quality Progress,* 49(4), 14-19. <u>https://asq.org/quality-progress/search#</u>
- Chakraborty, J. (2017). Solvency determinants of public sector general insurance firms in india. Prestige International Journal of Management and Research, 10(2), 27-33. https://www.pimrindore.ac.in/i-Journal.html
- Chan, C., Wong, J., Yeap, L., Wee, L., Jamil, N., & Nantha, Y. (2019). Workplace bullying and psychological distress of employees across socioeconomic strata: a cross-sectional study. *BMC Public Health*, 19(4), 1-8. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-019-6859-1
- Chassin, M., Loeb, J., Schmaltz, S., & Wachter, R. (2010). Accountability measures using measurement to promote quality improvement. *N Engl J Med*, 363(7), 683-688. <u>https://doi.10.1056/NEJMsb1002320</u>

- Chatterjee, D. & Dhaigude, A. (2018). Calibrating the factors of management quality in banking performance: a mixed method approach. *Measuring Business Excellence*, 22(3), 242-257. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/MBE-08-2017-0052</u>
- Chen, C. & Chang, W. (2018). Organizational defense: a study of "the abilene paradox" in elementary school administration decision-making. *School Administrators, 1*(118), 85-110. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.6423/HHHC.201811\_(118).0006</u>
- Cheyne, T., Smith, M., & Pollet, T. (2021). Egocentric network characteristics of persons with type 1 diabetes and their relationships to perceived social support and wellbeing. *Health Psychology and Behavioral Medicine*, 9(1), 662-680. https://doi.org/10.1080/21642850.2021.1951272
- Chong, W., Ting, K., & Cheng, F. (2017). The performance of externally managed reits in asia. *Journal of Property Investment & Finance*, 35(2), 200-227. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/JPIF-08-2016-0067</u>
- Christiansen, B. (2019). Analysis of ensemble mean forecasts: the blessings of high dimensionality. *Monthly Weather Review*, 147(5), 1699-1712. https://doi.org/10.1175/MWR-D-18-0211.1
- Chung, H., & Kuo, T. (2018). When and how managerial ties matter in international competitive strategy, export financial and strategic performance framework.
   *European Journal of Marketing*, 52(1), 260-278. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/EJM-05-</u>2015-0305

Cirjevskis, A. (2020). Do synergies pop up magically in digital transformation-based
retail m&a? Valuing synergies with real options application. *Journal of Open Innovation*, 6(1), 1-14. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/joitmc6010018</u>

Civelek, M., & Ertemel, A. (2019). The role of brand equity and perceived value for stimulating purchase intention in b2c e-commerce web sites. *Business & Economics Research Journal*, 10(1), 233-243.

http://dx.doi.org/10.20409/berj.2019.165

- Cookson, R., Robson, M., Skarda, I., & Doran, T. (2021). Equity-informative methods of health services research. *Journal of Health Organization and Management*, 35(6), 665-681. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/JHOM-07-2020-0275</u>
- Crane, A., Henriques, I., Husted, B., & Matten, D. (2017). Measuring corporate social responsibility and impact: enhancing quantitative research design and methods in business and society research. *Business & Society, 56*(6), 787-795. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0007650317713267
- Cunningham, N. (1994). Deming and the vindication of knowledge in the philosophy of c.i. lewis. *Quality Management Journal*, *I*(1), 1-2. <u>https://asq.org/quailty-resources/pub/quality-management-journal</u>
- Da Silva Lourenco, W., Louzada, L., & Novaes, P. (2018). The moderating role of market structure on the relationship between firm operational performance and degree of operating leverage. *Revista Universo Contabil, 14*(4), 160-181.
   <u>https://repositorio.ufes.br/bitstream/10/8869/1/tese\_10960\_DISSERTACAO%20-</u> <u>%20WESLEY%20LOURENCO.pdf</u>

Damjibhai, S. (2016). Performance measurement through ratio analysis: the case of

Indian hotel company ltd. *The IUP Journal of Management Research, 15*(1), 30-36. https://ssrn.com/abstract=2797190

- Davidyan, J., & Waymire, T. (2018). The effect of gaap conformity on pension underfunding. *Journal of Public Budgeting Accounting & Financial Management*, 30(4), 415-439. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/JPBAFM-02-2018-0013</u>
- De Allegri, M., Brenner, S., Kambala, C., Mazalale, J., & Muula, A. (2020). Expoiting the emergent nature of mixed methods designs: insights from a mixed methods impact evaluation in malawi. *Health Policy and Planning*, 35(1), 102-106. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/heapol/czz126</u>
- Dean, J. (2014). Personal protective equipment: an antecedent to safe behavior? *Professional Safety*, 59(2), 41-46. <u>https://www.assp.org/</u>
- Deming, W. (1985). Transformation of western style of management. *Interfaces*, 15(3), 6-11. <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/25060686</u>
- Dorsman, A., & Westerman, W. (2019). What drives working capital levels? *Hacettepe* University Journal of Economics & Administrative Sciences, 37(1), 41-63. <u>https://doi.org/10.17065/huniibf.373644</u>
- Duncan, L., & Luchs, S. (2017). Down with silos. *Quality Progress, 1*(1), 22-29. <u>https://asq.org/quality-progress/</u>
- East, L., & Peters, K. (2019). Theoretical frameworks in qualitative research: finding the right approach: leah east and kath peters introduce six articles examining the use of and choice of theoretical frameworks in qualitative research. *Nurse Researcher London, 27*(1), 6-7. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.7748/nr.27.1.6.s2</u>

- Ebabu, E. (2021). Exploring internal business factors and their impact on firm performance: small business perspective in ethiopia. *Journal of Innovation and Entrepreneurship*, *10*(1), 1-17. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13731-021-00167-3
- Eldomiaty, T., Anwar, M., & Ahmed, A. (2018). How can firms monitor the move toward optimal working capital? *Journal of Economic and Administrative Sciences*, 34(3), 217-236. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/JEAS-06-2017-0056</u>
- Ewen, H. & Carswell, A. (2019). Differences in conventional and seniors-oriented apartment management. *Facilities*, 37(3), 157-167. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/F-12-2017-0121</u>
- Fang-Yi, L., Rey-Marti, A., & Botella-Carrubi, D. (2020). Research methods in business: quantitative and qualitative comparative analysis. *Journal of Business Research*, *115*(1), 221-224. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2020.05.003</u>
- Fanti, L. & Buccella, D. (2018). Profitability of corporate social responsibility in network industries. *International Review of Economics*, 65(3), 271-289. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12232-018-0297-8
- Fasbender, D., Vajsova, B., Wirnhardt, C., & Lemajic, S. (2019). A simple similarity index for the comparison of remotely sensed time series with scarce simultaneous acquisitions. *Remote Sensing Basel 11*(13), 1-11.

https://doi.org/10.3390/rs11131527

Fiscor, S. (2020). What you might have seen at minexpo: in addition to supplying equipment, mets providers develop solutions that improve safety and lower operating costs. *Coal Age, 125*(7), 18-24. <u>https://www.e-mj.com/</u>

Fisher, P., James, J., Baek, J., & Kim, C. (2018). Mining intelligent solution to compensate missing data context of medical iot devices. *Personal and Ubiquitous Computing*, 22(1), 219-224. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00779-017-1106-1</u>

Gallo, M., & Clauter, A. (2014). The relationship between part 121 pilots' age and accident rates. *Collegiate Aviation Review*, 32(1), 1-17. <u>https://doi.org/10.22488/okstate.18.100446</u>

- Ge, Y., & Wu, H. (2020). Prediction of corn price fluctuation based on multiple linear regression analysis model under big data. *Neural Computing & Applications,* 32(22), 16843-16855. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00521-018-03970-4</u>
- Gianicolo, E., Cervino, M., Russo, A., Singer, S., & Blettner, M. (2021). Environmental assessment of interventions to restrain the impact of industrial pollution using a quasi-experimental design: limitations of the interventions and recommendations for public health policy. *BMC Public Health*, 21(1), 1-10.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s12889-021-11832-3

- Goddard, T., & Ivanov, S. (2016). Fashion house couture overview: a brief personal story based on the w. edwards deming's theory of management. *International Journal of Organizational Innovation*, 8(3), 79-83. <u>http://www.ijoi-online.org/</u>
- Gonfa, D. (2020). Determinants of financial and operational sustainability of microfinance institutions in ethiopia. *Srusti Management Review*, 13(1), 7-16. http://www.srustimanagementreview.ac.in/

Grashuis, J. (2019). The agency cost of ownership and governance adaptations in farm

producer organizations. *Agricultural Finance Review*, 80(2), 200-211. https://doi.org/10.1108/AFR-07-2019-0079

- Guetterman, T. (2019). Basics of statistics for primary care research. *Family Medicine* and Community Health, 7(2), 1-7. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/fmch-2018-000067</u>
- Harjoto, M., Kim, D., Laksmana, I., &Walton, R. (2019). Corporate social responsibility and stock split. *Review of Quantitative Finance and Accounting*, 53(2), 575-600. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11156-018-0759-9</u>
- Haryanti, T., & Subriadi, A. (2020). Factors and theories e-commerce adoption: a literature review. *International Journal of Electronic Commerce Studies*, 11(2), 87-105. http://dx.doi.org/10.7903/ijecs.1910
- Hedaoo, H., & Sangode, P. (2019). Implementation of total quality management in manufacturing firms: an empirical study. *IUP Journal of Operations Management, 18*(1), 21-35. <u>https://iupindia.in/Operations\_Management.asp</u>
- Hernandez, W., & Mendez, A. (2020). Twelve-year analysis of no2 concentration measurements at Belisario station (quito, Ecuador) using statistical inference techniques. *Sensors, Basel 20*(1), 1-31. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/s20205831</u>
- Hom, H., & Van Nuland, A. (2019). Evaluating scientific research: belief, hindsight bias, ethics, and research evaluation. *Applied Cognitive Psychology*, 33(4), 675-681.
   <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/acp.3519">http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/acp.3519</a>

Honarpour, A., Jusoh, A., & Nor, K. (2018). Total quality management, knowledge

management, and innovation: an empirical study in r&d units. *Total Quality Management & Business Excellence, 29*(7), 798-816. https://doi.org/10.1080/14783363.2016.1238760

Hsu, Y. (2019). The study of total quality management on business performance in tourist hotels in taiwan. *International Journal of Organizational Innovation*, 12(1), 305-337. http://www.ijoi-online.org/

- Hu, C., & Chang, Y. (2017). John w. creswell, research design: qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches. *Journal of Social and Administrative Sciences*, 4(2), 205-207. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1453/jsas.v4i2.1313</u>
- Hua, N., Hight, S., Wei, W., Ozturk, A., & Xinyuan, Z. (2019). The power of ecommerce. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 31(4), 1906-1923. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJCHM-02-2018-0168</u>
- Huang, J. (2017). Comparison of e-commerce regulations in chinese and American ftas: Converging approaches, diverging contents, and polycentric directions? *Netherlands International Law Review*, 64(2), 309-337. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40802-017-0094-1
- Hughes, P., & Harris, M. (2017). Organizational laundering: a case study of pseudotransformational leadership. *Organization Development Journal*, 35(2), 59-77. <u>https://isodc.org/OD\_journal</u>

Hung, R., Lien, B., Yang, B., Wu, C., & Kuo, Y. (2011). Impact of tqm and

organizational learning on innovation performance in the high-tech industry.

International Business Review, 20(2), 213-225.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ibusrev.2010.07.001

- Hunter-Thomson, K. (2019). Data literacy 101: what do we really mean by "data"? *Science Scope*, *43*(2), 84-88. <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/26899070</u>
- Hussain, S., Hassan, A., & Sohail, A. (2020). The reflection of exchange rate exposure and working capital management on manufacturing firms of pakistan. *Talent Development & Excellence*, 12(2), 684-698.

https://iratde.com/index.php/jtde/article/view/232

Ihantamalala, F., Herbreteau, V., Revillion, C., Randriamihaja, M., & Commins, J. (2020). Improving geographical accessibility modeling for operational use by local health actors. *International Journal of Health Geographics*, 19(1), 1-15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12942-020-00220-6</u>

- Ivanov, S. (2017). Exposing myths of modern management: the difference between work and pseudo-work or why modern organizations don't do any work. *Work In Progress, 1*(1), 1-10. <u>https://www.sergeyivanov.org</u>
- Ivanov, S. (2015). Exposing myths of Modern Management: innovation—identifying the problem. *Journal of Leadership and Management*, 1(3), 57-66. https://www.sergeyivanov.org
- Ivanov, S. (2011). Why organizations fail: a conversation about American competitiveness. *International Journal of Organizational Innovation*, 4(1), 94-110. <u>http://www.ijoi-online.org/</u>

- Jabeen, M. & Ali, S. (2017). Institutional investors as monitors of corporate managers: a case study of pakistan's cement industry and food and personal care products' industry. *Journal of Social Sciences*, *11*(2), 109-126. <u>http://sbbwu.edu.pk/journal/Winter\_2017\_Vol\_11\_No\_2/10.%20Institutional%20</u> Investors%20as%20Monitrs%20of%20corporate%20managers.pdf
- Jaghsi, A., Saeed, M., Fanas, S., Alqutaibi, A., & Mundt, T. (2021). Validity and reliability of new instruments for measuring patient satisfaction with removable dentures, arabic version. *BMC Oral Health*, 21(1), 1-10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12903-021-01811-w</u>
- Jalal, A., & Khaksari, S. (2020). Cash cycle: a cross-country analysis. *Financial Management Wiley-Blackwell*, 49(3), 635-671. https://doi.org/10.1111/fima.12273
- Jie, C. (2016). Study on the dynamic financial management mode under e-commerce era. *Advances in Social Science, Education and Humanities Research, 1*(1), 264-268. https://doi.org/10.2991/icemct-16.2016.54
- Joshi, U., & Ivanov, S. (2017). Evaluation of a boutique consulting firm: deadly diseases reporting to management. *International Journal of Organizational Innovation*, 9(4), 83-89. <u>http://www.ijoi-online.org/</u>
- Jung, B., Shin, Y., Lee, S., Huh, Y., & Oh, H. (2020). A response-adaptive method for design of validation experiments in computational mechanics. *Applied Sciences*, 10(2), 1-13. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/app10020647</u>

Jutkowitz, E., Alarid-Escudero, F., Kuntz, K., & Jalal, H. (2019). The curve of optimal

sample size (coss): a graphical representation of the optimal sample size from a value of information analysis. *Pharmaco Economics*, *37*(7), 871-877. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40273-019-00770-z

 Kabuye, F., Kato, J., Akugizibwe, I., Bugambiro, N. (2019). Internal control systems, working capital management and financial performance of supermarkets. *Cogent Business & Management, 6*(1), 1-18.

https://doi.org/10.1080/23311975.2019.1573524

- Kakalejcik, L., Bucko, J., Vejacka, M. (2019). Differences in buyer journey between high- and low- value customers of e-commerce business. *Journal of Theoretical* and Applied Electronic Commerce Research, 14(2), 47-58. https://dx.doi.org/10.4067/S0718-18762019000200105
- Kalinowski, S. & Puziak, M. (2018). Does a financial crisis affect operating risk?
  Evidence from polish listed companies 1. *Economics and Business Review*, 4(1), 64-85. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.18559/ebr.2018.1.5</u>
- Kaplan, S., Kenchington, D., & Wenzel, B. (2020). The valuation of discontinued operations and its effect on classification shifting. *The Accounting Review*, 95(4), 291-311. <u>https://doi.org/10.2308/tar-2016-0235</u>
- Karno, E., Syahrul, S., & Badarwan, B. (2018). Development of education quality: a study of the education operational assistance program in southeast Sulawesi. *First International Conference of Technology and Educational Science, 1*(1), 1-5. <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.4108/eai.21-11-2018.2282253">http://dx.doi.org/10.4108/eai.21-11-2018.2282253</a>

Kasasbeh, E., Harada, Y., & Noor, I. (2017). Developing a conceptual model for the

relationship between human resource management, e-business strategies and competitive advantage. *Journal of Internet Banking and Commerce, 22*(1), 1-21. <u>http://www.icommercecentral.com</u>

- Kaushik, N., & Chauhan, S. (2019). The role of financial constraints in the relationship between working capital management and firm performance. *IUP Journal of Applied Finance*, 25(1), 60-82. <u>https://www.iupindia.in/default.asp</u>
- Kawa, A. (2017). Fulfillment service in e-commerce logistics. Scientific Journal of Logistics, 13(4), 429-438. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.17270/J.LOG.2017.4.4</u>
- Kayani, U., De Silva, T., & Gan, C. (2019). A systematic literature review on working capital management – an identification of new avenues. *Qualitative Research in Financial Markets*, 11(3), 352-366. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/QRFM-05-2018-0062</u>
- Kenchington, D. (2019). Does a change in dividend tax rates in the u.s. affect equity prices of non-u.s. stocks? *Review of Accounting Studies*, *24*(2), 593-628.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s11142-019-9489-z

- Kennedy, B. (2018). 21<sup>st</sup> century excellence. *Quality Progress, 51*(10), 37-44. http://www.qualityprogress.com
- Kilian, C. (1992). The world of w. edwards deming. SPC Press second edition.
- Kim, Y., & Woo, C. (2019). The buffering effects of CSR reputation in times of productharm crisis. *Corporate Communications: An International Journal*, 24(1), 21-43. https://doi.org/10.1108/CCIJ-02-2018-0024
- Kitukutha, N., & Olah, J. (2018). Trust and e-commerce, case study on jumia company.

*Economic Science Series*, 27(1), 313-323.

https://ideas.repec.org/a/ora/journl/v1y2018i1p313-323.html

- Klibanoff, P., Mukerji, S., Seo, K. (2018). Symmetry axioms and perceived ambiguity. *Mathematics and Financial Economics*, 12(1), 33-54. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11579-017-0191-2
- Kohler, T., Landis, R., & Cortina, J. (2017). From the editors: establishing methodological rigor in quantitative management learning and education research: the role of design, statistical methods, and reporting standards. *Academy of Management Learning & Education, 16*(2), 173-192.

http://dx.doi.org/10.5465/amle.2017.0079

- Kolias, G., Arnis, N., & Karamanis, K. (2020). The simultaneous determination of cash conversion cycle components. *Accounting & Management Information Systems*, 19(2), 311-332. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.24818/jamis.2020.02005</u>
- Krikunov, A., Uteubayeva, A., Nazhmidenov, B., Kabiev, A., Syzdykova, K., &
  Baibasheva, G. (2020). Investment, organizational and environmental aspects of
  regulation of small and medium business. *Journal of Environmental Management*& *Tourism*, 11(7), 1841-1856. <u>https://doi.org/10.14505//jemt.v11.7(47).23</u>
- Krishnan, P. (2018). A review of the non-equivalent control group post-test-only design. *Nurse Researcher*, *26*(2), 37-40. http://dx.doi.org/10.7748/nr.2018.e1582
- Krotov, V. (2016). Reliability and validity issues in analysis of it spending using it managerial control ratios. *Benchmarking*, 23(7), 1910-1921.

https://doi.org/10.1108/BIJ-01-2015-0008

- Kumar, P., Maiti, J., & Gunasekaran, A. (2018). Impact of quality management systems on firm performance. *The International Journal of Quality & Reliability Management*, 35(5), 1034-1059. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJQRM-02-2017-0030</u>
- Kumar, P. & Yerramilli, V. (2018). Optimal capital structure and investment with real options and endogenous debt costs. *Review of Financial Studies*, 31(9), 3452-3490. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/rfs/hhx093</u>
- Lago, I., Bermudez, S., Guinjoan, M., Rowe, K., & Simon, P. (2019). Party mobilization and electoral systems. *Government and Opposition*, 54(1), 1-24. https://doi.org/10.1017/gov.2016.46
- Lahkani, M., Wang, S., Urbanski, M., & Egorova, M. (2020). Sustainable b2b ecommerce and blockchain-based supply chain finance. *Sustainability Basel*, *12*(10), 1-15. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su12103968</u>
- Le, B. (2019). Working capital management and firm's valuation, profitability and risk. *International Journal of Managerial Finance*, 16(2), 191-204. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJMF-01-2018-0012
- Lear, H., Eboh, W., & Diack, L. (2018). A nurse researcher's guide to reflexive interviewing. *Nurse Researcher London*, 25(4), 35-42. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.7748/nr.2018.e1550</u>
- Li, Y. (2017). Analysis on financial management of e-commerce enterprise. Advances in Social Science, Education and Humanities Research, 123(1), 1180-1183. https://doi.org/10.2991/icesame-17.2017.257
- Liaw, J., Huang, Y., Hsieh, C., Lin, D., & Luo, C. (2020). Pm2.5 concentration

estimation based on image processing schemes and simple linear regression.

Sensors, Basel 20(8), 1-13. https://doi.org/10.3390/s20082423

Lipitakis, A., & Lipitakis, E. (2017). On e-business strategy planning and performance evaluation: an adaptive algorithmic managerial approach. *International Journal of Business and Economic Development, 5*(2), 74-83.

https://www.ijbed.org/details&cid=145

- Lopez, K., & Ivanov, S. (2018). The lifeguard company: assessment of the general health of the organization. *International Journal of Organizational Innovation*, *10*(4), 16-21. <u>https://www.ijoi-online.org/</u>
- Lovitt, M. (1997). The new pragmatism: going beyond Shewhart and deming. *Quality Progress, 30*(4), 99-105. <u>https://asq.org/</u>
- Maeenuddin, A., Yusrini, L., Nassir, A., Hafeez, M., Chughtai, M., & Hussain, A.
  (2020). An empirical investigation of working capital management components and its association with firm's profitability (roe). *Talent Development & Excellence*, 12(1), 2644-2662. http://www.iratde.com
- Mahboobe, S., Moosavirad, S., Azimifard, A., & Biglari, S. (2020). Water consumption assessment in asian chemical industries supply chains based on input-output analysis and one-way analysis of variance. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research International 27*(11), 12242-12255. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-020-07707-6</u>

Mann, R., Martinovich, V., & Yakusheva, O. (2018). The peculiarities of working capital

management at agroindustrial enterprises of Ukraine. *Problems and Perspectives in Management*, *16*(2), 260-268. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.21511/ppm.16(2).2018.24</u>

- Mao, Y. & Wang, J. (2019). Is green manufacturing expensive? Empirical evidence from china. *International Journal of Production Research*, 57(23), 7235-7247. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2018.1480842</u>
- Maroof, Z., Shah, S., & Ahmad, B. (2017). Does vertical integration strategy for merger
   & acquisitions a fruitful decision? an evidence from Pakistani merger market.
   *Academy of Accounting and Financial Studies Journal, 21*(2), 1-31.
   <a href="https://www.abacademies.org/journals/academy-of-accounting-and-financial-studies-journal-home.html">https://www.abacademies.org/journals/academy-of-accounting-and-financial-studies-journal-home.html</a>
- Mathes, T., Rombey, T., Kuss, O., & Pieper, D. (2021). No inexplicable disagreements between real-world data-based nonrandomized controlled studies and randomized controlled trials were found. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, *133*(1), 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2020.12.019

McQuinn, M. (2021). On the primordial information available to galaxy redshift surveys. Journal of Cosmology and Astroparticle Physics, 2021(6), 1-2.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1088/1475-7516/2021/06/024

Mbatha, B., & Ngwenya, B. (2018). Obstacles to the adoption of e-commerce by tourism sme service providers in south africa: the case of selected smes in pretoria.
 *African Journal of Business & Economic Research*, 13(3), 153-173.
 <a href="https://hdl.handle.net/10520/EJC-13520ffd04">https://hdl.handle.net/10520/EJC-13520ffd04</a>

Mehta, S. (2017). Impact of working capital management on firm profitability: empirical

evidence of the Bombay stock exchange sensex companies. *Journal of Management & Research, 7*(1), 12-17. <u>https://www.cksvim.edu.in/sankalpa-journal-of-management-research/</u>

- Meiying, C. (2021). Research on financial management of e-commerce service industry. 2<sup>nd</sup> International Conference on E-Commerce and Internet Technology, 1(1), 1-2. <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/ECIT52743.2021.00035</u>
- Minas, M., & Ivanov, S. (2017). Evaluation of the x, inc. organization: are large multinationals immune to leadership diseases, viruses, and other illnesses? *International Journal of Organizational Innovation*, 10(2), 29-33. http://www.ijoi-online.org/
- Mishra, P., Pandey, C., Singh, U., Gupta, A., & Sahu, C. (2019). Descriptive statistics and normality tests for statistical data. *Annals of Cardiac Anaesthesia*, 22(1), 67-72. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.4103/aca.ACA\_157\_18</u>
- Mital, S., Christie, G., & Dikicioglu, D. (2021). Recombinant expression of insoluble enzymes in Escherichia coli: a systematic review of experimental design and its manufacturing implications. *Microbial Cell Factories, 20*(1), 1-20.
   <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s12934-021-01698-w">http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s12934-021-01698-w</a>

Moagar-Poladian, S., Dumitrescu, G., & Tanase, I. (2017). Retail e-commerce (e-tail) – evolution, characteristics and perspectives in china, the usa, and Europe. *Global Economic Observer*, 5(1), 167-178. http://www.globeco.ro/

Moen, R., & Norman, C. (2016). Always applicable. *Quality Progress, 49*(6), 46-53. <u>http://www.apiweb.org/images/PDFs/always-applicable.pdf</u>

- Mohanty, A., Das, B., & Kumar, S. (2018). Determinants of non-performing loans in india: a system gmm panel approach. *Prajnan Pune*, 47(1), 37-56. <u>https://www.nibmindia.org/prajnan/</u>
- Monroe, R. & Barrett, P. (2019). The evolving b2b e-commerce and supply chain management: a chronological memoire. Journal of Business & Management, 25(1), 49-67. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.6347/JBM.201903\_25(1).0003</u>
- Morshed, A. (2020). Role of working capital management in profitability considering the connection between accounting and finance. *Asian Journal of Accounting Research*, 5(2), 257-267. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/AJAR-04-2020-0023</u>
- Muller, M. (2020). Item fit statistics for rasch analysis: can we trust them? *Journal of Statistical Distributions and Applications*, 7(1), 1-12.

https://doi.org/10.1186/s40488-020-00108-7

- Muntean, M., Tarnaveanu, D., & Ion, A. (2016). E-commerce performance. Shopping cart key performance indicators. *Informatica Economica*, 20(1), 62-71. https://doi.org/10.12948/ISSN14531305%2F20.1.2016.06
- Murad, M., Katabi, A., Benkhadra, R., & Montori, V. (2018). External validity, generalizability, applicability and directness: a brief primer. *BMJ Evidence-Based Medicine*, 23(1), 17-19. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/ebmed-2017-110800</u>
- Murdoch, B., Marcon, A., & Caulfield, T. (2020). The law and problematic marketing by private umbilical cord blood banks. *BMC Medical Ethics*, *21*(1), 1-6. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12910-020-00494-2

Musa, A., Yasin, M., Smith, J., Yakub, M., & Nordin, R. (2021). The malay version of

sf-36 health survey instrument: testing data quality, scaling assumptions,

reliability and validity in post-coronary artery bypass grafting surgery patients at the national heart institute, kuala lumpur. *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes,* 

19(1), 1-11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12955-020-01658-9</u>

- Mwatsika, C. (2021). Reflecting on perceived failure of entrepreneurship development initiatives to help ignite economic development in malawi. *Journal of Innovation and Entrepreneurship, 10*(1), 1-24. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13731-021-00184-2</u>
- Naerde, A., & Hukkelberg, S. (2020). An examination of validity and reliability of the parental stress scale in a population based sample of norwegian parents. *Plos One San Francisco, 15*(12), 1-19. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0242735</u>
- Narwal, K., & Jindal, S. (2018). Working capital management impact on corporate profitability relation with corporate governance: evidence from Indian manufacturing sector. *Journal of Commerce and Accounting Research*, 7(3), 8-12. <u>http://www.publishingindia.com</u>
- Nastiti, P., Atahau, A., & Supramono, S. (2019a). The determinants of working capital management: the contextual role of enterprise size and enterprise age. *Business Management & Education*, *17*(2), 94-110.

https://doi.org/10.3846/bme.2019.10409

Nastiti, P., Atahau, A., & Supramono, S. (2019b). Working capital management and its influence on profitability and sustainable growth. *Business: Theory & Practice,* 20(1), 61-68. <u>https://doi.org/10.3846/btp.2019.06</u>

Nawaz, S., Khan, S., Sadique, U., Israr, M. Khan, M. (2021). Short communication -

molecular characterization and pathogenesis of local isolates of clostridium perfringens type d from sheep in district peshawar. *Pakistan Journal of Zoology*, *53*(4), 1595-1598. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.17582/journal.pjz/20200203170216</u>

- Nealon, A., & Cook, J. (2021). A novel method of assessing trunk lateral-flexion range of movement in first-class cricket players. *Journal of Athletic Training*, 56(12), 1355-1361. <u>https://doi.org/10.4085/564-20</u>
- Nethmini, L., & Ismail, M. (2019). Descriptive statistics of employee performance in brandix company. *International Journal on Global Business Management & Research*, 8(1), 51-57.

https://www.rajalakshmi.org/ijgbmr/downloads/IJGBMRFeb19.pdf

- Ng, S., Ye, C., Ong, T., & Teh, B. (2017). The impact of working capital management on firm's profitability: evidence from Malaysian listed manufacturing firms. *International Journal of Economics and Financial Issues*, 7(3), 662-670. <u>https://www.econjournals.com/index.php/ijefi/article/view/3889</u>
- Ni, Y., Huang, P., & Tung, Y. (2012). Does implementing a b2b electronic money c plan benefit working capital management? *International Journal of Electronic Business Management*, 10(2), 122-139. https://dblp.org/db/journals/ijebm/index.html
- Norman, J., Adkins, O., Dowell, C., Shain, L, & Hoyng, S. (2017). The visual perception of distance ratios outdoors. *Attention, Perception, and Psychophysics*, 79(4), 1195-1203. <u>https://doi.org/10.3758/s13414-017-1294-9</u>

Norze, J., Carter, C., Twijukye, R., & Burnett, M. (2019). The influence of selected

characteristics on the perceived effectiveness of an entrepreneurship training program among female participants. *The Journal of Business Diversity*, *19*(1), 32-41. https://doi.org/10.33423/jbd.v19i1.1353

Nyeadi, J., Sare, Y., & Aawaar, G. (2018). Determinants of working capital requirement in listed firms: Empirical evidence using a dynamic system gmm. *Cogent Economics & Finance, 6*(1), 1-15.

https://doi.org/10.1080/23322039.2018.1558713

- Octavia, A., Indrawijaya, S., Sriayudha, Y., & Hasbullah, H. (2020). Impact on ecommerce adoption on entrepreneurial orientation and market orientation in business performance of smes. *Asian Economic and Financial Review*, 10(5), 516-525. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.18488/journal.aefr.2020.105.516.525</u>
- Odjaremu, G. & Jeroh, E. (2019). Audit committee attributes and the reporting timeliness of listed nigerian firms. *Trendy Ekonomiky a Managemuntu, 13*(34), 69-81. https://doi.org/10.13164/trends.2019.34.69
- Olanisebe, M., & Ado, R. (2019). Effect of ownership structure on working capital management of listed downstream oil and gas companies in nigeria. *International Journal of Management Accounting & Economics*, 6(11), 831-843.
   <a href="https://www.ijmae.com/article\_114669.html">https://www.ijmae.com/article\_114669.html</a>

Oprescu, P. (2019). Influence of new technologies in e-commerce. Academy of economic studies. Economy Informatics, 19(1), 23-33. https://doi.org/10.12948/ei2019.01.03

Oroian-Boca, M. (2019). Big data analytics with graphical techniques applied on sensors

data. *IOP Conference Series, Materials Science and Engineering, 591*(1), 1-8. http://dx.doi.org/10.1088/1757-899X/591/1/012063

- Ozemre, M., & Kabadurmus, O. (2020). A big data analytics based methodology for strategic decision making. *Journal of Enterprise Information Management*, 33(6), 1467-1490. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/JEIM-08-2019-0222</u>
- Patel, I., Johnson, T., Garman, A., Hohmann, S., Pescara, P., Fowler, J., & Daneshgar, S. (2019). The return on investment from international patient programs in american hospitals. *International Journal of Pharmaceutical and Healthcare Marketing*, *13*(2), 171-182. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJPHM-09-2017-0054</u>
- Petersen, P. (1999). Total quality management and the deming approach to quality management. *Journal of Management History*, 5(8), 1-21. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/13552529910290520</u>
- Piech, M., Smywinski-Pohl, A., Marcjan, R., & Siwik, L. (2020). Towards automatic points of interest matching. *Isprs International Journal of Geo-Information*, 9(5), 1-29. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijgi9050291</u>
- Porzsolt, F., Wiedemann, F., Becker, S., & Rhoads, C. (2019). Inclusion and exclusion criteria and the problem of describing homogeneity of study populations in clinical trials. *BMJ Evidence Based Medicine, 24*(3), 92-94.
   <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/bmjebm-2018-11115">http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/bmjebm-2018-11115</a>

Prabhakaran, K., & Karthika, P. (2018). Impact of oil price and macroeconomic variables

on the profitability – a study on bank muscat, sultanate of oman. *International Journal on Global Business Management & Research*, 7(2), 28-38. <u>https://www.rajalakshmi.org/ijgbmr/</u>

- Pranadita, D., & Soeparna, I. (2020). Business actor responsibilities in electronic commerce. *Talent Development & Excellence*, 12(2), 340-345. <u>https://iratde.com/index.php/jtde/article/view/189</u>
- Prasad, P., Narayanasamy, S., Paul, S., Chattopadhyay, S., & Saravanan, P. (2019).
  Review of literature on working capital management and future research agenda. *Journal of Economic Surveys*, 33(3), 827-861. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/joes.12299</u>
- Prasanna, V. (2018). Statistical bias correction method applied on cmip5 datasets over the Indian region during the summer monsoon season for climate change applications. *Theoretical and Applied Climatology*, 131(1), 471-488. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00704-016-1974-8</u>
- Precup, R., Hedrea, E., Roman, R., Petriu, E., Szedlak-Stinean, A., & Bojan-Dragos, C. (2021). Experiment-based approach to teach optimization techniques. *IEEE Transactions on Education*, 64(2), 88-94.

https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/9153006/authors#authors

Prempeh, K., & Peprah-Amankona, G. (2020). Does working capital management affect profitability of ghanaian manufacturing firms? *Zagreb International Review of Economics & Business, 23*(1), 1-18. <u>https://doi.org/10.2478/zireb-2020-0001</u>

Purbasari, R., Sari, D., & Muttaqin, Z. (2020). Mapping of digital industry competitive

advantages: market-based view approach. *Review of Integrative Business and Economics Research*, 9(4), 380-398.

http://buscompress.com/uploads/3/4/9/8/34980536/riber\_9-s4\_27\_u20-072\_380-398.pdf

Rafi, M., Ahmed, E., Natasha, M., Mahruf, R., & Ahmed, F. (2020). Financial performance analysis of some selected investment banks of bangladesh. *Journal* of Internet Banking and Commerce, 25(3), 1-13.

https://www.icommercecentral.com/

- Ravenelle, A. (2019). We're not uber: control, autonomy, and entrepreneurship in the gig economy. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 34(4), 269-285. https://doi.org/10.1108/JMP-06-2018-0256
- Rezigalla, A. (2020). Observational study designs: synopsis for selecting an appropriate study design. *Cureus Palo Alto*, 12(1), 1-8. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.7759/cureus.6692</u>
- Richterman, A., Steer-Massaro, J., Jarolimova, J., Nguyen, L., & Werdenberg, J. (2018).
   Cash interventions to improve clinical outcomes for pulmonary tuberculosis: systematic review and meta-analysis. *World Health Organization*, 96(7), 471-483. http://dx.doi.org/10.2471/BLT.18.208959
- Rind, I. (2016). Conceptualizing students' learning experiences in English as second language in higher education from structure and agency. *Cogent Social Sciences*, 2(1), 1-17. https://doi.org/10.1080/23311886.2016.1191978

Riswani, R., Susanti, R., Bakhtiar, N., Zein, M., & Khaidir, E. (2019). Achievement of

gender mainstreaming in islamic schooling based on the national education standard in indonesia. *Journal of International Women's Studies, 20*(9), 29-42. <u>https://vc.bridgew.edu/jiws/vol20/iss9/4/</u>

- Segovia-Vargas, M., Camacho-Minano, M., Alberto, P., Cristina, F., & Vera, G. (2021).
   Sheltered employment centres: sustainability and social value. *Sustainability Basel, 13*(14), 7900-7916. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su13147900</u>
- Sepashvili, E. (2020). Digital chain policy of contemporary global economy: e-commerce evolution through e-banking and e-signature. *Economia Aziendale Online 2000 Web Business and Management Sciences International Quarterly Review, 11*(3), 239-249. http://dx.doi.org/10.13132/2038-5498/11.3.239-249
- Seth, H., Chadha, S., Sharma, S., & Ruparel, N. (2021). Exploring predictors of working capital management efficiency and their influence on firm performance: an integrated dea-sem approach. *Benchmarking Bradford*, 28(4), 1120-1145. https://doi.org/10.1108/BIJ-05-2020-0251
- Setyawati, I. (2016). Determinants of growth and profitability by bank specific variable and market structure in islamic banking in indonesia. *Academy of Strategic Management Journal*, 15(1), 1-14. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.1740500</u>
- Shi, P., Yan, B., & Zhao, J. (2018). Appropriate timing for smes to introduce an internetbased online channel under uncertain operating costs: a real options analysis. *Electronic Commerce Research*, 20(1), 969-999. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10660-018-9311-1</u>

Shrivastava, A., Kumar, N., & Kumar, P. (2017). Bayesian analysis of working capital

management on corporate profitability: evidence from India. *Journal of Economic Studies*, 44(4), 568-584. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/JES-11-2015-0207</u>

- Simon, S., Sawandi, N., & Abdul-Hamid, M. (2017). The quadratic relationship between working capital management and firm performance: evidence from the Nigerian economy. *Journal of Business and Retail Management Research*, *12*(1), 94-108. http://dx.doi.org/10.24052/JBRMR/V12IS01/TQRBWCMAFPEFTNE
- Singh, H., Kumar, S., & Colombage, S. (2017). Working capital management and firm profitability: a meta-analysis. *Qualitative Research in Financial Markets*, 9(1), 34-47. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/QRFM-06-2016-0018</u>
- Skoracka, A., Lopes, L., Alves, M., Miller, A., & Lewandowski, M. (2018). Genetics of lineage diversification and the evolution of host usage in the economically important wheat curl mite, aceria tosichella keifer, 1969. *BMC Evolutionary Biology, 18*(1), 1-15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12862-018-1234-x</u>
- Snider, J., & Davies, K. (2017). Success strategies for small financial planning firms. International Journal of Applied Management and Technology, 16(1), 1-14. <u>https://doi.org/10.5590/IJAMT.2018.17.1.02</u>
- Song, Y., Zhu, N., & Luo, F. (2022). City size and permanent settlement intention: evidence from rural-urban migrants in china. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 19(2), 676-694. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19020676

Srivastava, A. & Upadhyay, A. (2019). Does size matter? An evaluation of the

relationship between asset size, operating cost, and profit of scheduled urban cooperative banks in india. *IUP Journal of Bank Management, 18*(4), 62-73. <u>https://www.iupindia.in/Bank\_Management.asp</u>

Steel, G., Birch-Thomsen, T., Cottyn, I., Lazaro, E., & Mainet, H. (2019). Multi-activity, multi-locality and small-town development in cameroon, ghana, rwanda, and tanzania. *The European Journal of Development Research*, 31(1), 12-33. https://doi.org/10.1057/s41287-018-0183-y

Strifler, M. (2018). Profit sharing and firm profitability: the differential impact of underlying firm profitability on the wage-profit elasticity. *Journal of Participation and Employee Ownership*, 1(2/3) 191-220. https://doi.org/10.1108/JPEO-02-2018-0007

Surucu, L., & Maslakci, A. (2020). Validity and reliability in quantitative research. Business & Management Studies: An International Journal, 8(3), 2694-2726. https://doi.org/10.15295/bmij.v8i3.1540

Svatosova, V. (2019). Importance of strategic management of smes in e-commerce. *Ekonomicky Casopis, 67*(10), 1090-1110.

http://dx.doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.2.15547.75048

Svatosova, V., Chalupova, S., & Dvorakova, P. (2018). Identification of financial strategy in e-commerce. *European Financial Systems 1*(1), 715-724. <u>https://is.muni.cz/do/econ/soubory/sborniky/2018/Proceedings\_finalni\_verze\_Sep\_tember\_3.pdf#page=715</u>

Tahir, S., Afzal, A., Liaqat, S., Tahir, F., & Ullah, M. (2019). Corporate governance,

working capital management and firm risk: empirical evidence from pakistan stock exchange (psx). *Journal of Managerial Sciences*, *13*(4), 65-73. <u>https://www.qurtuba.edu.pk/jms/default\_files/JMS/13\_4/13\_4\_8.pdf</u>

Tan, P., Cro, S., Vogt, E., Szigeti, M., & Cornelius, V. (2021). A review of the use of controlled multiple imputation in randomised controlled trials with missing outcome data. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 21(1), 1-17.
 <a href="https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-021-01261-6">https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-021-01261-6</a>

- Thompson, L., Zablotska, L., Chen, J., Jong, S., Alkon, A., Lee, S., & Vlahov, D. (2018). Journal of Nursing Education, 57(8), 483-488. <u>https://doi.org/10.3928/01484834-</u> 20180720-06
- Tiwari, R., Saxena, M., Mehendiratta, P., Vatsa, K., Srivastava, S., Gera, R., Malik, H., & Sharma, R. (2018). Market segmentation using supervised and unsupervised learning techniques for e-commerce applications. *Journal of Intelligent & Fuzzy Systems*, 35(5), 5353-5363. http://dx.doi.org/10.3233/JIFS-169818
- Tzavlopoulos, I., Gotzamani, K., Andronikidis, A., & Vassiliadis, C. (2019). Determining the impact of e-commerce quality on customers' perceived risk, satisfaction, value, and loyalty. *International Journal of Quality and Service Sciences*, *11*(4), 576-587. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJQSS-03-2019-0047</u>
- U.S. China Business Council. (2017). Officials reverse course on cross-border ecommerce. *China Business Review*, 1(1), 3-3. <u>https://www.uschina.org/chinahub</u>

Umanto, D., Wijaya, C., & Atmoko, A. (2018). Intellectual capital performance of

regional development banks in indonesia. *Banks and Bank Systems*, *13*(3), 36-47. http://dx.doi.org/10.21511/bbs.13(3).2018.04

- Upadhyay, S., Stephenson, A., & Smith, D. (2019). Readmission rates and their impact on hospital financial performance: a study of Washington hospitals. *Inquiry: The Journal of Health Care Organization, Provision, and Financing, 56*(1), 1-6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0046958019860386</u>
- Urbonaviciute, K., & Maknickiene, N. (2019). Investigation of digital retail companies financial performance using multiple criteria decision analysis. *Mokslas: Lietuvos Ateitis, 11*(1), 1-9. <u>https://doi.org/10.3846/mla.2019.9737</u>
- Vagif, L. (2020). Features of marginal analysis in administration of management decisions. *Economic and Social Development*, 2(4), 377-382. <u>https://www.esdconference.com/upload/book\_of\_abstracts/Book\_of\_Abstracts\_esdBaku2020\_Vol 2\_Online.pdf</u>
- VanderPal, G. (2015). Impact of r&d expenses and corporate financial performance. Journal of Accounting and Finance, 15(7), 135-149. https://ssrn.com/abstract=2959290
- Venzor, A., & Ivanov, S. (2017). Strategies to improving corporation x: practical application of Abilene paradox theory of jerry b. Harvey and leadership theory of w. edwards deming. *International Journal of Organizational Innovation*, 9(3), 105-110. http://www.ijoi-online.org/

Vinsensius, A., Wang, Y., Chew, E., & Lee, L. (2020). Dynamic incentive mechanism

for delivery slot management in e-commerce attended home delivery.

Transportation Science, 54(3), 567-587. https://doi.org/10.1287/trsc.2019.0953

Wang, C., Dang, T., Nguyen, N., & Le, T. (2020a). Supporting better decision-making: a combined grey model and data envelopment analysis for efficiency evaluation in e-commerce marketplaces. *Sustainability*, 12(24), 1-24.

https://doi.org/10.3390/su122410385

- Wang, H., & Zhao, Z. (2019). Study on logistics cost optimization of offshore oil service industry based on offshore oil service cost model. *Journal of Coastal Research*, 98(SI), 171-174. <u>https://doi.org/10.2112/SI98-042.1</u>
- Wang, J., Wang, X., Yang, Y., Zhang, H., & Fang, B. (2020b). A review of data cleaning methods for web information system. *Computers, Materials, & Continua, 62*(3), 1053-1075. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.32604/cmc.2020.08675</u>
- Wang, Y., & Chen, J. (2018). Does the rise of pseudo-public spaces lead to the 'end of public space' in large Chinese cities? Evidence from shanghai and Chongqing. *Urban Design International*, 23(3), 215-235. <u>https://doi.org/10.1057/s41289-018-0064-1</u>
- Wassermann, S., Hind-Ozan, E., & Seaman, J. (2018). Reassessing public opinion of captive cetacean attractions with a photo elicitation survey. *Peer J San Diego*,

*I*(1), 1-29. <u>https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.5953</u>

Watson, G. (2017a). How do beliefs become profound knowledge? *Journal for Quality & Participation, 40*(1), 32-38. <u>http://www.asq.org/</u>

Watson, G. (2017b). The impact of profound knowledge on leadership and strategy. The

Journal for Quality and Participation, 40(2), 23-25. <u>https://asq.org/</u>

 Weck, T. (2019). Current issues of competition policy in e-commerce. *European Competition & Regulatory Law Review*, 3(1), 1-6.
 <a href="https://core.lexxion.eu/data/article/13913/pdf/core\_2019\_01-016.pdf">https://core.lexxion.eu/data/article/13913/pdf/core\_2019\_01-016.pdf</a>

Witjara, E., Nidar, S., Herwany, A., & Santosa, S. (2019). The implication of business partnership, company asset and strategic innovation to business valuation of digital industry in indonesia. *Academy of Strategic Management Journal, 18*(1), 1-13. <u>https://www.abacademies.org/articles/the-implication-of-business-partnership-company-asset-and-strategic-innovation-to-business-valuation-of-digital-industry-in-indone-7896.html</u>

Woolley, C., Handel, I., Bronsvoort, B., Schoenebeck, J., & Clements, D. (2020). Is it time to stop sweeping data cleaning under the carpet? A novel algorithm for outlier management in growth data. *Plos One, San Francisco 15*(1), 1-21. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0228154

Yatsenko, Y. & Hritonenko, N. (2016). Asset replacement under improving operating and capital costs: a practical approach. *International Journal of Production Research*, 54(10), 2922-2933. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2015.1135259</u>

Yilmaz, A., & Guven, O. (2019). Parents' attitude and opinions towards extracurricular sport activity. *Cukurova University Faculty of Education Journal*, 48(2), 1163-1201. http://dx.doi.org/10.14812/CUEFD.584270

Yu, Y., & Kim, H. (2019). Online retailers' return policy and prefactual thinking. Journal

of Fashion Marketing and Management, 23(4), 504-518.

https://doi.org/10.1108/JFMM-01-2019-0010

- Yu, Y., Wang, X., Zhong, R., & Huang, G. (2017). E-commerce logistics in supply chain management: implementations and future perspective in furniture industry. *Industrial Management & Data Systems, 117*(10), 2263-2286. https://doi.org/10.1108/IMDS-09-2016-0398
- Yuejun, T. (2016). Study on the strategies of financial management in e-commerce enterprises. Advances in Computer Science Research, 1(1), 1350-1352. <u>https://doi.org/10.2991/emcs-16.2016.334</u>
- Yuksel, A. (2017). Analysis of organizational dysfunction: dysfunctional momentum and the Abilene paradox. *Yonetim ve Ekonomi*, 24(3), 669-685. <u>https://doi.org/10.18657/yonveek.371958</u>
- Yumin, G. (2020). Analysis of financial risk management of e-commerce enterprises based on big data. 2020 The 4<sup>th</sup> International Conference on E-Business and Internet, 1(1), 37-41. https://doi.org/10.1145/3436209.3436888
- Zeller, T., Kostolansky, J., Bozoudis, M. (2019). An ifrs-based taxonomy of financial ratios. Accounting Research Journal 32(1), 20-35. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/ARJ-10-2017-0167</u>
- Zhan, D., Xu, L., Ouyang, Y., Sawatzky, R., & Wong, H. (2021). Methods for dealing with unequal cluster sizes in cluster randomized trials: a scoping review. *Plos One San Francisco, 16*(7), 1-23. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0255389</u>

Zhang, Y., Jiang, J., & Zhang, G. (2021). Compression of remotely sensed astronomical

image using wavelet-based compressed sensing in deep space exploration. *Remote* Sensing, Basel 13(2), 1-16. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/rs13020288</u>

- Zheng, D., Yang, W., & Wang, D. (2019). E-commerce, collaborative innovation capability and performance: an empirical study of shipping companies. *Journal of Coastal Research, SI*(94), 392-397. <u>https://doi.org/10.2112/SI94-079.1</u>
- Zhou, H., & Wang, Z. (2021). Cooling prediction of motorized spindle based on multivariate linear regression. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series, 1820*(1), 1-

6. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/1820/1/012196</u>

- Zhou, Q., Zhang, Z., Wang, Y., Elhoseny, M., & Yuan, X. (2020). Research on safety management system optimization of B2C e-commerce intelligent logistics information system based on data cube. *Journal of Intelligent & Fuzzy Systems*, 38(2), 1585-1592. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3233/JIFS-179522</u>
- Zia ul haq, H., Shafiq, M., Kashif, M., & Ameer, S. (2020). Determining force behind value premium: the case of financial leverage and operating leverage. *Journal of Risk and Financial Management*, 13(9), 1-15.

https://doi.org/10.3390/jrfm13090196

Zimon, G. (2020). Working capital management strategies in polish smes. Academy of Accounting and Financial Studies Journal, 24(3), 1-9. http://dx.doi.org/10.37394/23207.2020.17.24